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OURVISION

Building on the synergies of our rich retail experience,
strong foothold in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"), and our strategic partnerships,
Metro aims to be a leading property development
and investment group in the region.
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GROWING IN ASIA
and Beyond

Over the past 60 years,

Metro has flourished from its humble
beginnings to become a property development
and investment group with a broadened and
diversified asset portfolio, and has built
firm foundations in property development
and investment, and retail.

Metro, with its deeply rooted Asian market
knowledge and business know-how,
as well as strong client and stakeholder
relationships based in this region, will continue
to build on this foundation to capture robust
opportunities in Asia and Beyond,
across all its business units.
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Metro Holdings at a Glance

ABOUT US

Listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST in 1973, Metro Holdings was founded
in 1957 by the late Mr Ong Tjoe Kim. Starting out as a textile store on 72

High Street, Singapore, Metro has grown over the years to become a property
development and investment group with a broadened and diversified asset
portfolio, backed by an established retail track record, with a turnover of
S$$131.2 million and net assets of $$1.35 billion as at 31 March 2017.

T T T

OUR PRESENCE

Today, the Group operates two core business segments — property development and investment, and retail. It is focused
on key markets in the region such as the PRC, Indonesia and Singapore. The Group has also expanded its geographical
presence to the United Kingdom.
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

The Group’s property arm has significant interests in almost 107,000
square metres of prime retail and office investment properties in first-
tiercitiesinthe PRC, such as Shanghaiand Guangzhou, and over 640,000
square metres of residential and mixed-use development properties
held predominantly for sale. The Group also owns 16.1% of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring”), a Hong Kong-listed
PRC property developer and invests 23.7% in InfraRed NF China Real
Estate Fund Il (A), L.P. (“InfraRed Fund II"), a private equity real estate
opportunity fund and 7.5% in Mapletree Global Student
Accommodation (“MGSA”) Private Trust, a private trust in Singapore.

CHINA

Shanghai: Metro City, Metro Tower, Shanghai Shama Century Park
Guangzhou: GIE Tower
Jiangxi Province: Nanchang Fashion Mark

SINGAPORE
The Crest at Prince Charles Crescent

UNITED KINGDOM

Manchester: Milliners Wharf The Hat Box, Middlewood Locks
Sheffield: Sheffield Digital Campus

CHINA INVESTMENT
Top Spring
InfraRed Fund Il

SINGAPORE INVESTMENT
MGSA Private Trust

RETAIL

Metro's retail arm serves customers through a chain of three Metro
department stores in Singapore, and another nine department stores
in Indonesia. The Metro shopping brand is an established household
name in the retail industry, and offers a wide range of quality
merchandise, in about 1.4 million square feet of downtown and
suburban retail space in both Singapore and Indonesia.

INDONESIA
Jakarta, Bandung, Makassar, Surabaya and Solo

SINGAPORE
The Centrepoint, Paragon and Causeway Point
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Key Facts

Revenue

S$$131.2 million

S$$154.6 million in FY2016

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

$$80.7 million

S$113.1 million in FY2016

Return on Shareholders’ Funds

5.92%

8.23% in FY2016

Earnings Per Share

9.7 cents

13.7 cents in FY2016

Dividend Per Share

5.0 cents

7.0 cents in FY2016

Dividend Payout Rate

51.3%

51.2%in FY2016

Net Asset Value Attributable to Shareholders

SS$1,348 million

S$1,376 million in FY2016

b’ 4 METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Net Assets Per Share

$$1.63

$$1.66 in FY2016
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PROPERTY REVENUE (S$'000
32000 On the Property Division front, revenue decreased by $$2.0

million to $$6.5 million in FY2017 from S$$8.5 million in FY2016

FY2017 _ 6,513 mainly due to an absence of rental contribution from the
disposal of Frontier Koishikawa, Japan; and a weakening of the
FY2016 _ 8500 Renminbi during the year. Overall, occupancy rate for Metro's

three investment properties in Guangzhou and Shanghai as at 31
March 2017 was 91.5%.

Recent Developments of Property Division

« The Nanchang Fashion Mark project, has progressed well with the completion and recognition of sales of almost all of
its residential property components

« Invested a further US$28 million (or S$40.5 million) by extending the Group’s partnership with InfraRed NF China Real
Estate Fund Il (A), L.P, in addition to a total commitment of US$57 million

+ Invested S$56.4 million in a private trust in Singapore, Mapletree Global Student Accommodation Private Trust

+ In the UK, in Manchester, the Group has started to market Phase 1, comprising 571 apartments, of the Middlewood
Locks development. Additionally, for Acero Works at Sheffield, the Grade A office building is expected to be completed
in3Q 2017

Outlook

+ Rental income streams from GIE Tower, Guangzhou, as well as from the Metro City and Metro Tower properties in
Shanghai, are expected to remain stable

+ Ongoing presales of Nanchang Fashion Mark project’s office and retail space

RETAIL REVENUE (5$'000)
Metro's retail topline declined 14.6% to $$124.7 million in FY2017
from S$146.1 million in FY2016 largely due to the absence of

FY2017 124,711 the revenue contribution from Metro Sengkang and Metro
City Square with their closures in 2QFY2016 and 3QFY2016
respectively. Notably, revenue from continuing stores improved

FY2016 _ 146,095 5 49 to $$124.7 million as Metro Centrepoint benefitted from
better foot traffic with the completion of the refurbishment of
the mall.

Outlook

+ Focuses on developing fresh concepts and an omni-channel marketing strategy to meet the evolving needs of our
customers

Continues to operate in a challenging, competitive trading environment, coupled with high operating costs

+ Inthe coming year, the number of stores in Indonesia will increase to 10, with the closure of one store and opening of
two new stores

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (S5'000)
81,241 1,300

122,188 144

82,541

B Property
M Retail

For FY2017, the Group registered profit before tax of
$$82.5 million, with a substantial portion contributed
by our share of associate’s results of S$42.5 million and
share of joint ventures' results of $$22.3 million, mainly in
China. This was driven largely by rental contributions from
Metro City and Metro Tower, Shanghai, and a write-back
of tax provisions on finalisation with tax authorities by Top
Spring International Holdings Limited, our Hong Kong-
listed associate.

Comparatively, in FY2016, the Group registered profit
before tax of $$122.3 million. This was substantially
contributed by its associate in Nanchang amounting to
S$46.7 million, $$23.0 million in fair value adjustments
on investment properties, which includes those held by
associate and joint ventures, and a S$$38.1 million gain
from divestment of the Group’s interest in joint ventures
owning EC Mall, Beijing.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017
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Chairman’s Message

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Metro Holdings Limited
(“Metro” or the “Group”), it is my pleasure to present our
Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2017
(“FY2017").

FINANCIAL REVIEW

We delivered a net profit of 5$81.0 millionin FY2017, with a
substantial portion contributed by our share of associate’s
results of S$42.5 million and share of joint ventures’results
of $$22.3 million, mainly in China. This was driven largely
by rental contributions from Metro City and Metro Tower,
Shanghai, and a write-back of tax provisions on finalisation
with tax authorities by Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, our Hong Kong-listed associate.

Our financial performance, whilst lower than the net profit
of S$113.3 million recorded in FY2016, was nonetheless
commendable, as it was achieved in the absence of the
one-off gain of $$38.1 million from the disposal of the
Group’s 50% interest in the joint venture owning the EC
Mall, Beijing, in the previous financial year.

The Group’s share of associates’ results declined
significantly, mainly due to lower contribution from
our Nanchang project, as the residential portion of the
development has largely been recognised in FY2016.
In addition, there was a decline in gains from fair
value adjustments on Shama Century Park, Shanghai’s
investment properties, a partnership with Top Spring.
Top Spring also recorded lower income due to the timing
of completion and handover of properties although
the impact was more than offset by a write-back of tax
provisions on finalisation with the tax authorities.

g METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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“Having a solid financial position
accords us the capacity to

pursue value-enhancing growth
opportunities as they arise, and
provides us the buffer against global
macroeconomic challenges that
may come.”

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo
Chairman

We ended the financial year with a healthy balance
sheet, with net cash of approximately $S$323.5 million
and shareholders’ equity of approximately S$1.35 billion.
Having a solid financial position accords us the capacity
to pursue value-enhancing growth opportunities as
they arise, and provides us the buffer against global
macroeconomic challenges that may come.

DEEPENING THE MANAGEMENT BENCH

At this moment, | would like to take the opportunity
to welcome Mr Yip Hoong Mun, who joined as Group
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Executive Officer of
Metro China Holdings. Hoong Mun brings with him deep
experience in the property industry and will be an asset
to the Group in supporting our Chief Executive Officer, Mr
Lawrence Chiang, in executing our property strategy in
China, Indonesia, the UK and beyond.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENTS

On an overall basis, the average occupancy rate of our
three investment properties, held by a subsidiary and joint
ventures, remained high at 91.5% in FY2017. Buoyed by
the recovery in leasing activities, contribution from GIE
Tower, Guangzhou, Metro City and Metro Tower, Shanghai
also rose 7% for the year, including fair value adjustments.
Rental also benefited from asset enhancements
undertaken at our Metro City, Shanghai’s leisure complex.

Our Nanchang Fashion Mark partnership with our
associate, Top Spring, is progressing well. We have
largely sold off all the residential units in the mixed
development project. Going forward, contribution from
this development will be mainly from the presales of
the office and retail components of the development.
While revenue could remain substantial, gross margins
of the office component will be significantly below those
achieved for the residential units.



Our Shanghai Shama Century Park serviced apartments
continue to attract buyers’ interest, as the residential
market in Shanghai posted a strong rebound last year. We
have sold and completed the handover of approximately
another half of the floor space in the project in FY2017,
bringing total disposal to about 85%.

Our UK projects remain on-track. Following the
completion, sale and handover of The Hatbox, Manchester
in April 2016, we have commenced work on the mixed-
development Middlewood Locks, Manchester, and have
started to market the 571 residential units under Phase
1,in April 2017. Additionally, the Grade A office building,
Acero Works at Sheffield, is expected to be completed in
3Q2017.

FOUNDATION FOR GROWTH

Having realised our property investments in FY2016 -
including the sale of our 50% stake in the joint venture
owning EC Mall, Beijing and Frontier Koishikawa Building,
Tokyo — as part of our capital recycling exercise, we believe
that it is time to invest for a new cycle. That is why we have
injected another US$28.0 million in FY2017, over and
above our initial US$57 million commitment, to co-invest
with InfraRed NF China Real Estate Fund Il (A), L.P. (“Fund
I1I"). Additionally, we have also invested S$56.4 million in
Mapletree Global Student Accommodation Private Trust, a
private trust in Singapore.

With property development and investment being our
core business and the main contributor of our earnings,
our performance is inherently linked to the property cycle.
Moreover, the nature of such investments require a long
duration, spanning more than a few financial years, which
may translate into earnings volatility over the life of each
investment.

RETAIL

After streamlining our retail presence in Singapore in
FY2016 with the closure of Metro Sengkang and Metro
City Square, we have seen improvements in performance
of our retail operations, albeit at a gradual pace. Revenue
from continuing stores improved 5.4% to S$124.7 million
as Metro Centrepoint benefitted from better foot traffic
with the completion of the refurbishment of the mall.
Segmental loss narrowed for the year, and together with
stronger performance from our Indonesian associate,
profit contribution from our retail division rose to S$1.3
million in FY2017 from S$0.1 million in FY2016.

While retail operations remain a significant part of our
heritage, management is conscious of the need to
improve shareholders’ returns and is employing various
strategies to improve performance of the division.
These include upgrading merchandise selections in

close collaboration with international and local business
partners to meet changing consumer taste. We are also
embarking on initiatives to enhance customer service, as
well as developing new multi-media platform to engage
customers through social media.

OUTLOOK

Over the past year, China’s economic growth has
reaccelerated, with GDP growth reaching 6.9% in 1Q2017,
the strongest in six quarters'. The faster-than-expected
economic growth was mainly driven by improving
exports and consumption related to the real estate sector.
This has generally translated into improving the macro-
environment for our China operations.

Office rents in Shanghai Grade A offices are expected
to remain stable or be marginally higher on the back
of robust demand from Fast Moving Consumer Goods
(FMCG) and retail companies. This should bode well for
our Metro Tower, Shanghai. We also expect to continue
receiving stable rental income streams from our GIE Tower
investment property in Guangzhou, China. Meanwhile,
the asset enhancement initiative at Metro City, Shanghai
has been completed in 4QFY2017. With this, we expect to
see further improvement in average leasing rate.

Chinaremainsakeyfocusinourproperty developmentand
investment strategy. We believe our extensive experience
in the market and strong relationships with key partners
give us a distinct competitive advantage in uncovering
new opportunities. Our additional co-investment with
Fund Ilis evidence of our deep commitment to this market.

In the UK, we are excited at the launch of Middlewood
Locks, Manchester since the beginning of the new
financial year. Following the Brexit vote in June 2016, the
UK has experienced political uncertainties with the most
recent being the outcome of the general elections held
in June 2017. Despite this, the UK economy has remained
relatively resilient and the property market in Manchester
continued to be robust, as sentiment in this city is less
impacted than that in London. Residential prices in
Manchester are rising faster than anywhere else in the
country, as home buyers are attracted by the city’s vibrant
economy, sporting and cultural attractions, as well as the
strong civic leadership.

At the same time, our Sheffield office development project
has been progressing well, with one of the two buildings,
Acero Works, expected to be completed in 3Q2017.

In Singapore, given the weak residential market sentiment,
sales of the Group’s residential project - The Crest at Prince
Charles Crescent - is expected to be sluggish.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017
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Chairman’s Message

Prospects of our Singapore retail operations remain
challenging, as supply of new retail space continues
to grow while consumers’ shopping behavior shifted
increasingly towards online. With this understanding,
Metro has undertaken to transform ourselves, both in
developing fresh concepts to entice consumers with
better shopping experience, as well as to develop an
omni-channel marketing strategy to meet the evolving
needs of our customers and support a complete online-
to-offline (020) user experience.

Indonesia continues to hold huge potential in terms of
growing consumption power in view of the country’s
burgeoning middle-class. As such, we continue to
prudently identify new sites for departmental store
expansion.

Overall, we are constantly evaluating our asset portfolio
to optimise shareholders’ return. While China remains
our core market and a prime investment destination, we
are constantly on a lookout for opportunities in other
geographical regions to diversify our exposures and risks.
Ultimately, our goal is to steadily grow our portfolio of
quality assets and navigate the property cycles in each
market.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND

To reward our supportive shareholders, the Board has
recommended on a per share basis, dividends totaling 5.0
Singapore cents, comprising of ordinary final dividend of
2.0Singapore cents and a special dividend of 3.0 Singapore
cents. Together, these represent a dividend yield of 4.2%?
and payout ratio of 51.3% of the net profit attributable to
shareholders for FY2017, as compared to 51.2% in FY2016.

' CBRE, Marketview — China, Q1 2017
2 Share price of S$1.18 as at 31 March 2017

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

APPRECIATION

Our achievements and strong performance over all these
years would not be possible if not for the dedication and
hard work of our staff and management team across
the Metro group, including associates and joint venture
companies. As such, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to our team. | would also like
to thank our loyal shareholders who have committed their
trust to us, as well as to our business partners, associates,
customers and tenants for their unwavering support.

| would also like to thank my fellow Board members for
their wise counsel to help guide the Group in these
challenging times.

With the Group's firm foundation and clear vision, together
with the steadfast support of our various stakeholders,
we believe that we are well-positioned to continue to
develop Metro into a leading property development and
investment group in the region and beyond.

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo
Chairman

21 June 2017
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Board of Directors

(From left to right)

LT-GEN (RETD) WINSTON CHOO WEE LEONG
Chairman, Non-Executive and Independent

PHUA BAH LEE
Director, Non-Executive and Independent

GERALD ONG CHONG KENG
Director, Non-Executive
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(From left to right)
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Board of Directors

LT-GEN (RETD) WINSTON CHOO WEE LEONG
KRR
Chairman, Non-Executive and Independent

FPATHIZERE

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong was appointed
Director of Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro”) in June 2007
and assumed the position of Chairman in July 2007. He
is also the Chairman of the Nominating and Investment
Committees and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

He had a distinguished military career from 1959 to 1992
and was Singapore’s Chief of Defence Force from 1974
to 1992. He served as Singapore’s High Commissioner to
Australia and concurrently Ambassador to Fiji from 1994
to 1997. He also served as Singapore’s Non-Resident
High Commissioner to the Republic of South Africa
and the Independent State of Papua New Guinea from
2000 to 2006. He is currently Singapore’s Non-Resident
Ambassador to the State of Israel.

Lt-Gen Choo is an experienced company director, having
served on the Boards of several listed companies since
1993. Currently, he isa member of the Board of Directors of
Foodfare Catering Pte Ltd, Newstar Investment Holdings
Pte Ltd and Tridex Pte Ltd.

Lt-Gen Choo holds a Master of Arts in History from
Duke University, USA and has completed the Advance
Management Programme at Harvard University, USA.

RERPHT2007F AT ENXZERARLA
( %7 ) WEE, FE200757 BHRIENER
ITHE—HR. MERRBZZERACTREZRATHERI
REMER AR

KPR FIEE T 1959FE 19925 B8 i S EIE
FEHRAEE, FF1974F 519924 A48 {EH I3 E B 3B
A=ZF 8. B T1994F 2199758 FRB(EH M
WIHRAF T HEE RAFRETEFNAME. 2000 =
20065 ), flth BE(EFT NSRS IEME R ILHILA
TR ENFEERSER. MIEFMKEEART]
SEISE PN

RERPHREVUEREENLRAESE, B1993FE
BEESZRITRAAMNES<BAEIRS. B2
Foodfare Catering Pte Ltd, Newstar Investment
Holdings Pte Ltd %1 Tridex Pte Ltd IEZ < R

RERPHRHEERMRTAFNHEXFEMEZEN,
HEXERBAFZTHR T SRERFINRE.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

PHUA BAH LEE ;%22
Director, Non-Executive and Independent

FHITHIIES

Mr Phua Bah Lee joined the Board of Metro in 1993. He
is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit and Nominating Committees.
He is also a Director of Pan United Corporation Ltd and
Singapura Finance Ltd. He also holds directorships in a
number of private companies.

Mr Phua was the Parliamentary Secretary of the Ministry
of Communications from 1968 to 1971 and Senior
Parliamentary Secretary of the Ministry of Defence from
1972 to 1988. He was a Member of Parliament for the
Tampines Constituency from 1968 to 1988. He graduated
from the Nanyang University, Singapore, with a Bachelor
of Commerce degree.

BEERETIIONVEMAELZERS. URFHFMER
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GERALD ONG CHONG KENG F =k
Director, Non-Executive

FHITEE

Mr Gerald Ong Chong Keng was appointed a Director
of Metro in June 2007. He is a member of the Audit,
Nominating, Investment and Remuneration Committees.

He is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the
PrimePartners Corporate Finance Group and is a Director
of Aseana Properties Ltd (listed on the London Stock
Exchange Main List). Mr Ong has more than 20 years of
corporate finance related experience. He has held senior
positions at various financial institutions including NM
Rothschilds & Sons (Singapore) Ltd, the DBS Bank Group,
Tokyo-Mitsubishi International (Singapore) Pte Ltd and
Hong Leong (Malaysia) Group. During his time with these
institutions, Mr Ong’s duties encompassed the provision of
a wide variety of Corporate Finance services from advisory,
M&A activities and fund raising exercises incorporating
various structures such as equity, debt, equity-linked and
derivative-enhanced issues.

Mr Ong has been recognised as an IBF Distinguished
Fellow and is a Council Member of the Singapore Institute
of International Affairs (‘SIIA’). He is an alumnus of the
National University of Singapore, University of British
Columbia and Harvard Business School.

ERREET2007F6ARENEDNES. ithEH
I RE. REZASNHFMERASIRAZ —

M ERE NI MSHINERAFANMITEARE, B
NtE Aseana Properties Ltd, —RERBUESIZ 5
FrER LT ABNESE. ThtESpAEmEEaY
20FMFEELR. thBELEZRESHMYIY, BFEES
RRXF MK BRAF. HNKERRITERA-
AR=ZZFZHFr MK ARAFURDSRALERE
SHBEERBRS. TREEU ENBEEREERS
EEBE iz, BiEemmD, tlHBE, UEBETE
A RmFE BARKBEFELLTE RN DR R

%o

FRAEWZRTIBF GRmEERTMEMMARA) R
FENEE, FEFMKEFRESHAMNEESN
Ro ERAEZHMTEIRT . KEFRLETRFE R
BRHAFZHNREER.

FANG Al LIAN (MRS) 5 &3k A
Director, Non-Executive and Independent

FHITHIES

Mrs Fang Ai Lian was appointed a Director of Metro in July
2008. She is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nominating Committee.

She is an Independent Director of Banyan Tree Holdings
Limited and Singapore Post Limited, and Advisor to
the Far East Organization Group. She is Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of the Singapore Business Federation
and Medishield Life Council. She also serves on the Board
of Trustees of the Singapore University of Technology
and Design, and is a member of Tote Board (Singapore
Totalisator Board).

Mrs Fang was previously with Ernst & Young (“E&Y”) for
37 years where she last held the position of Chairman of
E&Y Singapore until her retirement on 31 March 2008.
She previously served as the Chairman of Charity Council.
She is also a Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
Public Service Star in 2009. Her past directorships include
Singapore Telecommunications Limited and MediaCorp
Pte Ltd.

Mrs Fang qualified as a Chartered Accountant in England
and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales as well as a Fellow of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants.

FIEERAT2008F/ARENEDNES. EH
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Board of Directors

TAN SOO KHOON PB4k EE
Director, Non-Executive and Independent

FHITHES

Mr Tan Soo Khoon was appointed a Director of Metro
in December 2011. He is a member of the Audit and
Investment Committees.

Mr Tan, a businessman, is also a Director of Parkson Retail
Asia Limited and several private companies. Since 1978,
he has been the Managing Director of watch distribution
companies, Crystal Time (S) Pte Ltd and Crystal Time (M)
Sdn Bhd.

Mr Tan holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration
with Honours from the National University of Singapore.
Mr Tan was a Member of the Singapore Parliament from
1976 to 2006. He also served as Speaker of Parliament
from 1989 to 2002. Since 2007, he has been Singapore’s
non-resident Ambassador to the Czech Republic.

BREF L F201 T FI12AMA X P ERELBEES.
RETMREZREMMRZ -

BReEr—NUEA, EERZSELMNERLATM
SRIMANNEMES. BI1978F L%, fth—HIIBME
Crystal Time (S) Pte LtdFnCrystal Time (M) Sdn Bhd
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LAWRENCE CHIANG KOK SUNG #E#+2
Group Chief Executive Officer, Director, Executive

SHERNITE, WITES

Mr Lawrence Chiang was appointed as the Group Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director of Metro in June
2016. He is a member of the Investment Committee.

He holds executive responsibility over the business
strategies and operational affairs of the Metro Group of
companies. He has initiated and overseen the completion
of the Group’s property development projects and joint
ventures in China, Singapore, the United Kingdom, Japan,
Malaysia and Australia, having assumed a key role in the
Group's investment strategy and business development.

Mr Chiang joined Metro in 1989 and has held positions as
the Group’s Head, Corporate Affairs and Special Projects
and Financial Controller. He was appointed the Group
General Manager in April 2007 before being re-designated
as the Group Chief Operating Officer in July 2013. He was
appointed as the Acting Group Chief Executive Officer
in February 2016. He has 43 years of working experience
in industries involved in property development and
management, retail and department stores, cruise, hotel,
engineering and trading operations.
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Key Management

LAWRENCE CHIANG KOK SUNG
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr Lawrence Chiang was appointed
as the Group Chief Executive Officer
of the Metro Group in June 2016.
He holds executive responsibility
over the business strategies and
operational affairs of the Metro
Group of companies. He has initiated
and overseen the completion of
the Group's property development
projects and joint ventures in China,
Singapore, the United Kingdom,
Japan, Malaysia and Australia, having
assumed a key role in the Group's
investment strategy and business
development.

Mr Chiang joined Metro in 1989 and
has held positions as the Group’s
Head, Corporate Affairs and Special
Projects and Financial Controller. He
was appointed the Group General
Manager in April 2007 before being
re-designated as the Group Chief
Operating Officer in July 2013. He
was appointed as the Acting Group
Chief Executive Officer in February
2016. He has 43 years of working
experience in industries involved
in property development and
management, retail and department
stores, cruise, hotel, engineering
and trading operations. Mr Chiang
was a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of New
Zealand, the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants, ACCA and
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators.

YIP HOONG MUN
Group Chief Operating Officer

Mr Yip Hoong Mun joined Metro in
February 2017 as the Group Chief
Operating Officer of the Metro Group
and Chief Executive Officer of Metro
China.

Mr. Yip has close to 30 years of
experience in executive and senior
management roles in strategic
planning, operations, hospitality, real
estate investment and development.
Prior to joining Metro, he spent over
20 years with the CapitaLand Group.
Mr Yip started his career with Indeco
Engineers and later joined BP South
East Asia.

Between 1994 and 2007, Mr Yip
worked in various countries in the
investment and operations functions
of Liang Court (prior to the forming
of CapitaLand in 2000) and The
Ascott Group. He rose to become the
Managing Director of Ascott China
in 2003; and in 2006, was promoted
to become CEO, Asia Pacific and
Gulf Region of The Ascott Group.
Between 2007 and 2013, Mr Yip was
involved in property developments
of CapitaLand in the Gulf Region, and
later, Vietnam. He was, until recently,
CapitaLland  Group’s  Managing
Director of Indonesia, responsible for
building its presence in this market,
including an ongoing integrated
development in central Jakarta.
Throughout his career, Mr Yip has
had numerous successes in opening
new markets in China, Vietnam and
Indonesia.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil
Engineering degree with first class
honours from the National University
of Singapore and a Master's degree
in Business Administration from
Stanford University, USA.

WONG SIOE HONG

Executive Chairman,
Metro (Private) Limited

MrsWong was appointed as Executive
Chairman of Metro (Private) Limited
with effect from 1 October 2012.
As Executive Chairman, she serves
as the key strategist of the Group's
retail operations and is responsible
for charting the future direction of
this division. With over 40 years of
industry expertise, Mrs Wong also
holds the positions of Vice President
of the Singapore Retailers Association
as well as Vice Chairman of the
Orchard Road Business Association.

She first joined Metro’s retail
organisation in 1971 and had
served as the Managing Director of
Metro (Private) Limited from 1994
to 2012, overseeing the overall
retail operations of the Group in
both Singapore and Indonesia. Mrs
Wong has played an instrumental
role in transforming the Metro retail
arm into a major retail operator
in Singapore and will continue to

oversee the Group’s retail expansion
in the region. Mrs Wong holds a
Bachelor of Science (Commerce) from
the University of Santa Clara, USA.

DAVID LEE CHIN YIN
Group Financial Controller &
Joint Company Secretary

MrDavidLee hasbeenGroupFinancial
Controller of the Metro Group since
1995. He has overall responsibility
for the Group’s finance, accounting,
treasury and tax functions. Mr Lee
joined the Metro Group in 1991 as its
Group Internal Audit Manager after
15 years in the public accounting
profession. Mr Lee is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the Institute
of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

DAVID TANG KAI KONG

Chief Executive Officer,

Metro (Private) Limited

Mr David Tang was appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer of Metro
(Private) Limited on 10 September

2012. A well regarded retail
professional with extensive
experience in retail operations,
marketing and financial

management, he started his retail
career as Merchandising Manager
with JC Penny in Indianapolis,
Indiana, USA.

Prior to joining Metro, Mr Tang was at
the helm of Robinsons as its Regional
General Manager, a position he held
since 2006. He spent 22 years at
Robinsons, where he rose through the
ranks, serving in various capacities
from Fashion Buyer to Deputy

Senior Merchandising Manager,
Senior Merchandising Manager,
General Manager (Merchandising)

to General Manager (Department
Stores). Mr Tang has a Master of
Business Administration in Retailing
and Wholesaling from University of
Stirling, Scotland, and a Bachelor
of Science (Highest Distinction) in
Finance from Indiana University, USA.
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Partnerships

TRANSCORP

CTCORP

TRANS CORP (SINCE 2001)

Trans Corp is the Media, Lifestyle, Retail and Entertainment
arm of CT Corp, a diversified holding company with
businesses across a wide spectrum of industries. Trans
Corp’s businesses include two free to air news and
entertainment television broadcast, Pay TV Channel, News
Portal, shopping malls and hotels, indoor themepark,
franchisee for Coffee Bean and Tea Leaf, Baskin Robbins and
Wendy'’s, as well as over 25 international high-end fashion
franchises with nearly 90 branded boutiques. Trans Corp
also owns majority ownership of Trans Retail Indonesia
(formerly Carrefour Indonesia) together with GIC.

Metro first collaborated with Trans Corp in 2001 when it
opened its third store in Bandung Supermal. By 2008, Trans
Corp had acquired a 40% stake in Metro Indonesia and in
recognising the country’s growing demand for Metro stores,
Trans Corp increased its shareholding to 50% in 2010.

Today, Metro Indonesia is one of the leading retailers in the
country, housing a wide range of well-known international
and local brands. Metro Indonesia currently has 9 stores
spread across Jakarta, Bandung, Surabaya, Makassar and
Solo.

A InfraRed &EZd

Capital Partners

NAN FUNG CHINA

INFRARED NF CHINA REAL ESTATE FUND (SINCE 2007)

Headquartered in London with offices in Hong Kong,
Sydney and New York, InfraRed Capital Partners
(“InfraRed”) is a manager of specialist infrastructure and
real estate funds.

Metro’s partnership with InfraRed NF China Real Estate
Fund, L.P. (“the Fund”), a fund managed by InfraRed in
joint venture with Hong Kong’s Nan Fung Group, started
in 2007 with investments in EC Mall, No. 1 Financial
Street and Metropolis Tower - in Beijing. In 2009, Metro
entered into a joint venture with the Fund and Tesco plc
in three Tesco Lifespace malls in Qinhuangdao, Fushun,

;
.

and Anshan. Another joint venture with the Fund and
Tesco plc followed in February 2011 in three new Tesco
Lifespace malls in Fuzhou, Xiamen and Shenyang. Metro
and the Fund has since divested their interest in all these
developments.

In 2015, Metro invested in InfraRed NF China Real Estate
Fund Il (A), L.P. (“Fund 1l"). Fund Il is the follow-on fund to
the Fund. In 2016, we extended the Group'’s partnership
with Fund Il through a co-investment in a real estate debt
instrument.

5 WINGIAIASIA

WING TAI HOLDINGS LIMITED (SINCE 2012)

Wing Tai Holdings Limited (“Wing Tai") was incorporated in
Singapore on 9 August 1963. Wing Tai is today Singapore’s
leading property developer and lifestyle company
reputed for quality and design. The principal activity of the
company, listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange since
1989, is that of an investment holding company with a
keen focus on growth markets in Asia. The core businesses
of the Wing Tai group of companies, including Wing Tai
Malaysia Berhad in Malaysia, Wing Tai Properties Limited

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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in Hong Kong and Wing Tai (China) Investment Pte Ltd in
China, comprise property development and investment,
hospitality management and lifestyle retail. With more
than S$4.5 billion in total assets, Wing Tai has an extensive
landbank of choice sites in Asia’s prime locations. In late
2012, Metro invested in a 40% held joint venture with
Wing Tai to jointly develop The Crest at Prince Charles,
a signature residential condominium at Prince Charles
Crescent in Singapore.
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N TOPSPRING

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED (SINCE 2011)

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring”)
is a real estate property developer in the PRC specialising
in the development and operation of urban mixed-use
communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta,
Central China, Beijing-Tianjin and Chengdu-Chongqging
regions in the PRC.

Listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
March 2011, Top Spring’s revenue stood at HKD 5.6 billion
for the year ended 31 December 2016. Metro increased its
strategic voting stake in Top Spring from 5% at the initial
public offering to 19% in FY2014 for S$86 million. Prior to
raising its stake, in FY2013, Metro invested equity of 5548
million for 30% in Nanchang Top Spring Real Estate Co.,
Ltd, a partnership with Top Spring. Known as Nanchang
Fashion Mark and located at Hong Gu Tan Central Business

District in Nanchang, Jiangxi Province in the PRC, the
mixed-use development initially had total leasable/
saleable GFA of approximately 780,000 square metres of
which just over half has been presold as at 31 March 2017.

In December 2013, Metro acquired a 30% stake in Shanghai
Shama Century Park from Top Spring for RMB 524 million.
The property operated as serviced apartments with a total
of 284 residential units across a total gross floor area of
approximately 49,357 sqm. 245 residential units have
been sold as at 31 March 2017.

On 1 July 2014, Top Spring became an associated
company of the Metro Group when Metro’s nominated
representative was appointed to the board of directors of
Top Spring as non-executive director.

b

Scarborough Group

International

SCARBOROUGH GROUP INTERNATIONAL (SINCE 2014)

Founded by Kevin McCabe in 1980, Scarborough Group
International (“Scarborough”) has grown from a UK-
based real estate developer and investor into a global
organisation focussing predominantly on real estate
with other past and present business interests in Europe,
North America, Australia, Hong Kong, India, China and the
United Kingdom.

Scarborough is now in its fourth decade of business,
having developed into a global group with a diverse
portfolio. It has a comprehensive investment portfolio
which encompasses all aspects of real estate, interests
in leisure - most notably a 50% stake in Sheffield United

Football Club - as well as additional investments in a
number of other sectors.

In July 2014, Metro entered into a joint venture with the
Scarborough Group acquiring a 25% stake in two land
plots for GBP5.7 million in Manchester, United Kingdom
- Middlewood Locks (a predominantly residential mixed-
use development) and Milliners Wharf The Hat Box (a 144
new build residential development). The collaboration
was further strengthened in February 2016, when Metro
participated in another joint venture with the Scarborough
Group to develop two office buildings on a site in Sheffield,
United Kingdom.
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Portfolio Review

M

A ey

As at 31 March 2017, average occupancy for the Group'’s three investment properties, including those held
by joint ventures, remained high at 91.5% (31 March 2016: 91.2%).
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 March 2017, average occupancy for the Group’s three investment properties, including those held by joint
ventures, remained high at 91.5% (31 March 2016: 91.2%). The Group sold and delivered approximately 42,001 square
metres in leaseable GFA or 245 units of its Shanghai Shama Century Park serviced apartments, bringing total disposal to
about 85%.

OCCUPANCY RATES
GIE Tower, Guangzhou 86.4 86.0
Metro City, Shanghai 95.5 88.2
Metro Tower, Shanghai 92.7 99.4
PROPERTY VALUATIONS

As at 31 March 2017, GIE Tower, Guangzhou, and Metro Tower, Shanghai, recorded slight increases in valuations, while
Metro City, Shanghai, registered a decline in valuation on a Renminbi (RMB) basis. On a Singapore Dollar (S$) basis, due
to the weakening of the RMB against the S$, overall valuations of the three investment properties were lower in FY2017.

FY2017 FY2016 (C)] FY2017 FY2016 (%)
(RMB’m) (RMB'm) (S$’'m) (S$’'m)
GIE Tower, Guangzhou” 480 479 +0.2 97 100 -3.0
Metro City, Shanghai®” 1,024 1,059 -3.3 208 221 -5.9
Metro Tower, Shanghai 958 957 +0.1 195 200 -2.5

M As at 31 March

Exchange rates:
FY17:5$1: RMB 4.926
FY16:S$1: RMB 4.785

China’s economic growth is expected to grow faster than expected, mainly driven by improving exports and consumption
related to the real estate sector. Correspondingly, the commercial property market in cities where Metro has a core
presence in, is anticipated to remain resilient.

EXPIRY PROFILE BY GROSS RENTAL INCOME

GIE Tower, Guangzhou 3.6 9.4
Metro City, Shanghai 6.3 13.0
Metro Tower, Shanghai 45 15.2
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Portfolio Review

METRO CITY
SHANGHAI

Strategically located at Xujiahui, Metro City, Shanghai, is
a lifestyle entertainment centre with nine levels of space,
spanning nearly 40,000 square metres. Directly linked to an
underground MRT, the mall attracts high shopper traffic due
to its prime location and accessibility.

Asset enhancement on the last two levels of Metro City,
Shanghai, was completed during the year. Its occupancy rate
as at 31 March 2017 was 95.5% (2016: 88.2%).

MALL TENANT MIX BY LETTABLE AREA
KEY STATISTICS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2017)

A ine e | 374
Site area (sqm) . 15,434 (includes KFC & Pizza Hut) 70
Lettable Area (sgm) : 38,447 Leisure & Entertainment/ _

ST Sport & Fitness 26.0%

Tenure : 36-year term from 1993 Fashion & Sh
12 ini ashion oes
(12 years remaining) (includes Uniglo) | 20.0%
No. of Tenants 2 172 -
ers
Occupancy Rate (%) : 95.5 (includes Godiva) 8.6%
Valuation (100%) : 5$$208 million
Department Store L ¢ 3.5%
TOP 10 TENANTS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2017) AVERAGE LEASING RATE & OCCUPANCY RATE
N - °/i>_ of Tgltal RMB/sqm
ame of Tenant ettable . %
Area 200 | o S 040%  95:5% [ 100.0%
89.0% 89.4% 88.2% o
Physical Fitness & 7.7% 817% 200%
Beauty Centre 650 -

80.0%
Star Theatre 6.6%

Food Republic 6.5%
Kodak Cinema World 6.1% 550 Lo 60.0%

HAOLEDI KTV 5.6% 50.0%
Shanghai Xi Ti 4.5% 500 ied
La Chapelle 2.8% g -
La Ruta De Via 2.2% '
20.0%

Popular Bookmall 1.9% 400
Jun-15  Sep-15  Dec-15 Mar 16 Jun-16 Sep 16 Dec 16 Mar-17
MuUJI 1.9%

600 70.0%

= Average leasing rateasat  —®~Occupancy rate as at
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KEY STATISTICS
% owned by Group
Site area (sqm)
Lettable Area (sqm)
Tenure

No. of Tenants

Occupancy Rate (%) :

Valuation (100%)

60
4,933
40,323

50-year term from 1993
(26 years remaining)

30
92.7
S$195 million

TOP 10 TENANTS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2017)

Name of Tenant

Swatch Group
Exxon Mobil
Energy Source
Pizza Hut

Agricultural
Bank of China

Cummins

KFC

Shanghai Xi Ti
Tutuanna

Lucite International

METRO TOWER
SHANGHAI

Located next to Metro City, Shanghai, Metro Tower offers
over 40,000 square metres of Grade A office space, spread
across 26 floors.

Metro Tower, Shanghai, is supported by a strong multinational
tenant base and its occupancy remains high at 92.7% as at 31
March 2017 (2016: 99.4%).

OFFICE TENANT MIX BY LETTABLE AREA
(AS AT 31 MARCH 2017)

Others 25.3%

Consumer Products

N

Petroleum & Chemicals = 18.8%
& s

w 5.0%

Banking, Insurance &
Financial Services

IT Services&
Telecommunication

AVERAGE LEASING RATE & OCCUPANCY RATE

% of Total RIS
Lettable 98.0% gou% 100.0%
Area 210 1000%  100.0% 95 4% 96.1%
93 (2 92.7% | 95.0%
16.4%
15.2% 190 1182 90.0%
14.5% 170 85.0%
6.7%
80.0%
6.0% 150
75.0%
130
0
5.3% 70.0%
5.2%
L0 65.0%
4.2%
2.5% 90 60.0%
: Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec 15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep 16 Dec 16 Mar 17
0
1.9% mmm Average leasing rateasat ~ ~®~Occupancy rate as at
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Portfolio Review

GIETOWER

GUANGZHOU

Part of a 7-storey shopping podium and 35-storey office
tower, GIE Tower, Guangzhou, is located at Huanshi Road East,

in the central business district of Dongshan, Guangzhou.

The Group owns over 28,000 square metres of Grade A office
space in the building. GIE Tower’s occupancy rate rose to
86.4% as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 86.0%).

OFFICE TENANT MIX BY LETTABLE AREA

(AS AT 31 MARCH 2017)

— Pharmaceutical & Medical = 22.6%
KEY STATISTICS Others 18.5%
% owned by Group 100
Site area (sqm) Strata titled F&B - 17.5%
Lettable Area (sqm) 28,390 Consumer Products o 103%

Tenure

50-year term from 1994

(27 years remaining) Banking, Insurance & 8.7%
N o . /70
No. of Tenants 33 Financial Services -
. IT Services &
Occupancy Rate (%) : 86.4 Telecommunication w 5.5%
Valuation (100%) S$$97 million

Name of Tenant

Yu Cai Restaurant

TOP 10 TENANTS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2017)

LA EI B RMB/sgm

Lettable

Area

14.2%

120 -

Petroleum & Chemicals

( 3.3%

AVERAGE LEASING RATE & OCCUPANCY RATE

88.4% 89.4%

87.7%
1301 860%  g56%

85.9%

2afa™Y

—

83.3%

86.4%

90.0%

85.0%

i 0, 112
Abbott Laboratories 8.6% o 109 100 109 i i
Sino-US United 7.7% b 103 7
MetLife Insurance 100 | 9
75.0%
Roche 6.8% .
90 -
Guangdong Teachers 6.3% e
.U
Novo Nordisk 4.2% 80 -
Toshiba 4.1% | 65.0%
Guangzhou Kamen 3.9%
Industry 60 - ! ‘ ‘ 60.0%
Evergreen 3.5% Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17
= Average leasing rateasat  ~®~Occupancy rate as at
RB & Manon 3.1%
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SHANGHAI SHAMA CENTURY PARK
SHANGHAI

KEY STATISTICS

Completion Date : 2006

% owned by Group : 30

Land use rights tenure ending on : 30 December 2072
Saleable/Leaseable GFA (sgm)*  : 7,355

Valuation (100%)* : S$105 million

* As at 31 March 2017

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

The Group has largely sold off all the residential units in
Nanchang Fashion Mark. As at 31 March 2017, 290,274
square metres of residential area, 51,380 square metres of
office area and 38,312 square metres of retail area have
been presold and delivered. Going forward, contribution
from this development would be mainly from presales of
the office and retail components of the development.

Within the UK, all of the units for Milliners Wharf The Hat
Box have been sold as at 31 March 2016 and the handover
completed in April 2016. For Middlewood Locks, the 24
acres will be developed in phases. Construction has
commenced and the Group has started to market the

Acquired in October 2013, the property comprises a
total of 284 residential units with a total gross floor
area of approximately 49,357 square metres and 240
underground car park units, and was operated as
serviced apartments.

Located at 99 Dongxiu Road in Pudong New District,
Shanghai, the well-situated property is easily accessible
from the subway station located just next door and is
only approximately 15 minutes’ drive from the Central
Business District of Pudong, Shanghai.

As at 31 March 2017, leaseable GFA of approximately
42,001 square metres, comprising 245 units, have been
sold and delivered.

571 residential units under Phase 1, in April 2017. As for
Sheffield Digital Campus, Acero Works, the Grade A office
building is targeted for completion in Q3 2017.

The residential market for Manchester, UK, is expected to
continue being buoyant, given that demand significantly
outweighs available supply.

The Crest at Prince Charles Crescent which is 40% held by
the Group had 162 options issued as at 31 March 2017, an
increase of 52 options from the 110 options issued as at
31 March 2016.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Portfolio Review

NANCHANG FASHION MARK
JIANG XI
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KEY STATISTICS Nanchang Fashion Mark is a partnership with Hong
% owned by Group - 30.0 Kong-listed Top Spring International Holdings Limited.
Site area (sqm) . 269,455 Itf-;.S a m(ijlxeci-glse developr:\e:: f(:grr;pris:ndg rtels_:dentiGaI,
. . office and retail components that is located at Hong Gu
(SRSl start'date + May 2013 Tan Central Business District (“CBD”) in Nanchang City,
Expected completion date : June 2020 Jiangxi Province in the PRC.
Land cost (RMB million) : 1,978
Total GFA (sqm) : 1,030,475 Established 10 years ago, the Hong Gu Tan CBD has a
Total saleable/lettable GFA (sqm)* : 400,080 vast catchment area for businesses in the Central China
Residential* . 883 region, and continues to see many domestic financial
Retail* . 216,408 institutions setting up offices in the area.
Serviced Apartments® © 20,766 The project’s residential and commercial properties are
Office* 162,023 being sold and completed in phases. As each completed
phase is handed over, property sales will progressively
* As at 31 March 2017 be recognised.

As at 31 March 2017, saleable area presold and delivered
comprised approximately 290,274 square metres of
residential space, 51,380 square metres of office space
and 38,312 square metres of retail space.

i’ 26 METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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THE CREST AT PRINCE CHARLES CRESCENT
SINGAPORE

LS LA The Crest at Prince Charles Crescent is a 469-unit
% owned by Group : 400 condominium comprising four blocks of 5-storey and
Site area (sqm) 1 23,785 three blocks of 24-storey residential buildings. The
Construction start date : June 2013 development includes a basement carpark, swimming
TOP : February 2017 pool, landscape deck and communal facilities.
Tot.aI GFA (sam) " e Located in the tranquil Jervois precinct, the leasehold
itttz it srlebloCiRu gl & 24280 site at Prince Charles Crescent fronts the Good Class
Land cost (S$'million) : 5163 Bungalows of the Chatsworth and Bishopgate estates in
Singapore. The Crest, which sits on a land parcel of over
* As at 31 March 2017 23,000 square metres, will be of superior spatial quality,
offering an openness and unblocked views that the site
affords.

The architect commissioned for this development is Toyo
Ito, a famed Japanese architect and Pritzker Architecture
Prize winner who designed the iconic VivoCity shopping
mall in Singapore.

The development was completed in Feburary 2017.
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Portfolio Review

MIDDLEWOOD LOCKS
MANCHESTER

KEY STATISTICS

% owned by Group

Site area (acres)

Tenure

Estimated total GFA (sqft)

ﬁ' 28 METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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: 250

: 240

: Freehold
: 2.4 million

Middlewood Locks is situated at the Western boundary
of the Manchester City Centre, next to the River Irwell
and the Trinity Way Inner Ring Road. The development is
a short distance away from major roads and is set to be a
vibrant neighbourhood comprising approximately 2,200
new homes. There will also be 750,000 square feet of
office and commercial space for amenities and facilities
such as shops, restaurants, hotels, gym and bars.

With beautifully landscaped open spaces, water
ways and promenades, Middlewood Locks’ modern
apartments will be nestled within a vibrant and exciting
environment.

Middlewood Locks' residential properties will be
developed in phases.

Work commenced in May 2016 on the site which enabled
construction work to start on Phase 1 comprising 571
homes and associated space including convenience
shops, restaurants and canal side footpaths and cycle
ways. Phase 1 is expected to be completed in 2018.



MILLINERS WHARF THE HAT BOX
MANCHESTER

KEY STATISTICS

¥

I!

ey I H % owned by Group : 25.0
[ J Site area (acres) : 1.06
T Tenure : Freehold
1— L "-“L A Sales launch : Mid 2015
{] e g Completion date : 1Q 2016
]I FI _! Estimated total saleable GFA (sgft) : 112,400
|
|

[

The second phase of Milliners Wharf is located at the  with a mix of 14 different types of configurations across
New Islington area of Manchester, UK. Neighbouring  two buildings. In addition, the development also includes
the site of the successful first phase of Milliners Wharf, 135 secure surface parking spaces within the premises.
the development is a short five minutes’ walk from the

Manchester City Centre and the Piccadilly train station. All the units have been sold as at 31 March 2016 and

handover completed in April 2016.
The development consists of 144 apartments while
featuring one, two, duplex and three bedroom apartments

SHEFFIELD DIGITAL CAMPUS
SHEFFIELD

KEY STATISTICS

% owned by Group : 50.0

Site area (acres) : 1.03
Tenure : Freehold
Expected completion date : 2017/2020

Estimated total saleable GFA (sgft) : 131,226

The Sheffield Digital Campus is a striking contemporary  spanning 80,300 square feet and 50,900 square feet in net

landmark that is centrally located on Sheaf Street and is  internal area respectively. Both buildings will also have a

adjacent to the Sheffield City Centre’s main railway station.  secure car parking facility.

It is a prominent feature for those arriving in the City via

the primary road and rail routes. Work has commenced on Acero Works and is expected to
be completed in Q3 2017.

Two Grade A office buildings, Acero Works and Vidrio

House, will be built with six floors and eight floors,
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Portfolio Review

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
PRC

Beijing
b Tianjin Le Leman City

Tianjin
3 4 i Changzhou Fashion Ma(k
i:: 25::3 Il::rr:g _r:l\l:n?::;g <>_ ‘ Changzhou Ghinazhaule Leman Sy
| Nanjing 9)) ' Shanghai

Shanghai Shama Century Park

Chengdu % Ningbo

Chengdu Fashion Mark —

Hangzhou Landmark
The Spring Land-Hangzhou

| Dongguan
Dongguan Landmark

19 property projects .
property proj HKSAR Hong Kong Yuen Long Project
(O Completed projects
. Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
O Proj_ects under development Shenzhen Hidden Valley
O Projects held for future development or The Spring Land — Shenzhen
contracted to be acquired Shenzhen Fashion Mark
© Major city with high speed railway Shenzhen Blue Bay
) ) Shenzhen Buji Market Project
=== High speed railway ‘| Shenzhen Jianshang Project

The Group owns about 16.1% of Top Spring as at 31 March 2017.

The Top Spring Group specialises in the development and operation of urban mixed-use communities and the
development and sale of residential properties in the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central China, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chonggqing regions in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2016, the Top Spring Group had a total of 19 projects over 10 cities in various stages of development,
including an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 450,281 sg.m., an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of projects under development of approximately 41,059 sq.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable
GFA of projects held for future development of approximately 494,905 sg.m. and an estimated net saleable/leasable
GFA of projects contracted to be acquired or under application for change in land use of approximately 1,365,709 sg.m.,
totalling an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 2,351,954 sq.m.

. METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RETAIL

RETAIL OPERATIONS

Since the late Mr Ong Tjoe Kim (E#£Z) launched
his flagship store at 72 High Street in 1957, Metro has
flourished into a retailer with a highly recognised brand
name, one that travelled beyond the shores of Singapore.

To bring refreshing shopping experiences to its customers,
Metro continually enhances its merchandise mix through
its close collaboration with local and international
business partners, the expansion of its product categories,
and via optimisation of its product assortments. To further
enhance its merchandise offering, the Group has also
expanded its in-house development team to develop
exclusive products just for its customers.

To-date, Metro has five exclusive in-house labels — Kiro,
Kurt Woods, Joe Burton, M. Maison and M. Essentials -
which were developed by its in-house development team.
Its products range from fashion to home furnishings.

Having an established brick-and-mortar business, Metro
continues to focus efforts on its omni-channel marketing
strategy, to meet the evolving needs of its customers and
to support a complete online-to-offline user experience.
The Group also introduced the cross-store merchandising
and selling option, where customers can now buy, collect,
exchange and return merchandise from any Metro store.

The Group's business analytics team dedicates time to help
understand customers’ needs and shopping preferences,
which it carefully evaluates in order to continually improve
customers’ shopping experience.

Metro’s Customer Relationship Management (CRM) is
one way the Group rewards its loyal customers, while
simultaneously leveraging on the platform to innovate,
and find even more ways to delight its loyal customers
through curated product offerings.

To grow its brand presence, the Group continues to focus
on its multi-media strategy of engaging its customers
through various platforms such as Facebook, Twitter,
Instagram, mobile web and electronic direct mail. The
latest, with the rising popularity of Messaging App, the
Group embarked on yet another multi-media platform,
a mobile messaging App, to further engage customers
via instant marketing promotions. The Group is awaiting
the much anticipated launch of its “Metro App”, a web
application development, planned for fourth quarter of
this year, as an added platform to its multi-media strategy
for customer engagement.

Metro continues to adhere to the Personal Data

Protection Act 2012 (PDPA), and ensures that there are
proper protocols and processes in place to safeguard its
customers’ data.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Portfolio Review

SINGAPORE

METRO STORES

The Group currently has three stores in Singapore under
its flagship brand, Metro:

« Metro Centrepoint
« Metro Paragon
+ Metro Woodlands

Of the two stores, Metro Centrepoint and Metro Paragon,
located in Singapore’s main shopping belt, Orchard Road,
Metro Centrepoint, the larger of the two, continues to
offer its customers a one-stop shopping haven and its six
floors of retail therapy is dedicated to beauty and wellness,
women’s and men’s fashion, kids and toys, as well as bath
and living, all while housing the largest and widest home
lifestyle and beds selection in town. Meanwhile, Metro
Paragon continues to evolve as a fashion store having an
array of in-house, local and international brand names.
Metro Woodlands, its only sub-urban store, continues
to serve the neighbourhood community in Singapore’s
North West District.

On the marketing front, Metro stores are promoted for
their best Design, Quality, Value and Services. The Group
will continue to build on this principle as the bedrock of
its business.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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INDONESIA

METRO STORES

Metro started its operations in the Indonesian market in
1991 at Pondok Indah Mall and currently operates nine
storesinIndonesiawith a total retail space of approximately
.11 million square feet:

—_

- Metro Pondok Indah, Jakarta

Metro Plaza Senayan, Jakarta

+ Metro Bandung Supermal, Bandung
« Metro Taman Anggrek, Jakarta

- Metro Pacific Place, Jakarta

+ Metro Trans Studio Makassar, Makassar
« Metro Gandaria City, Jakarta

+ Metro Ciputra World, Surabaya

Metro Park Solo, Solo

Our Jakarta team focuses efforts on enhancing the
merchandise offering across all its Indonesia outlets,
improving customer service, as well as executing the
Group's integrated multi-media strategy.

OUTLOOK

Given the cautious sentiment surrounding the retail
market, competitive environment and high operating
costs, the Group expects the division to remain under
pressure. Notwithstanding the challenges, the division will
continue to refresh and reinvent the customer shopping
experience via fresh concepts. In the coming year, the
number of stores in Indonesia will increase to 10, with the
closure of one store and opening of two new stores.
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Financial Highlights

TOTAL ASSETS OWNED (S$’ MILLION)

29.6

2017

$$1,556m

Plant and Equipment
M Investment Properties
M Investments in Associates
[ Investments in Joint Ventures

32.2

B Quoted and Unquoted Investments - Long-term

B Quoted Investments - Short-term

B Cash and Cash Equivalents (including pledged deposits)
[ Others

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL (S$’ MILLION)

19.0 (67.4

1,350.7
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B Total Equity
Bank Borrowings
B Trade and Other Payables
B Tax and Deferred Tax Liabilities
B Amount due to an Associate



EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)

RETURN ON TOTAL ASSETS (%)

2017 9.70 2017 G 5.22
2016 G 1370 2016 G 7.3
2015 Q— 1730 2015 () 963
2014 G 1290 2014 G 817
2013 GRS 7.83 2013 G 5.02
RETURN ON SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS (%) TOTAL NET ASSETS (S$'000)
2017 G 5.92 2017 CEE 1350699
2015 G 18 2015 G 1377317
2014 G 2.18 2014 Q— 1,185,711
2013 QR 5.74 2013 G 1148530
DIVIDEND PAYOUT
55'm Payout Rate
160 r 80%
5142.9m
120 - 5113.0m - B0
51.1% 51.3%
s ]
51.2%
$80.7m
B0 F40%
sotem 34.8% $58.0m
£49.7m
40 - 20%
Y -0
FY2013 Fy2014 Fy2015 Fy2oie Fy20717*
= Nt Profit Attributable to Shareholders mmm  Dividend (cents per sharg) =®—Payout Rate (%)
* FY2017's proposed dividend subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM in July 2017
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Financial Summary

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(RESTATED) (RESTATED)

Financial Results (S$’000)

Turnover 131,224 154,595 145,826 139,179 139,410
Net profit from operating activities before tax 82,541 122,332 145,538 109,923 72,493

Taxation (1,522) (9,040) (3,181) (3,031) (7,532)
Profit after tax 81,019 113,292 142,357 106,892 64,961

Non-controlling Interests (337) (163) 510 (43) (148)
Net profit attributable to shareholders 80,682 113,129 142,867 106,849 64,813

Net final dividend proposed/paid 16,561 16,561 16,561 16,561 16,561

Net final special dividend proposed/paid 24,841 41,402 33,121 33,121 16,561

Balance Sheets (S$’000)

Plant and equipment 5,062 4,872 6,083 4,190 6,007
Investment Properties 104,423 106,653 168,948 160,797 168,875

Other non-current assets 986,347 865,142 910,343 831,569 650,861

Current assets 460,225 558,301 556,149 329,129 465,214
Total Assets 1,556,057 1,534,968 1,641,523 1,325,685 1,290,957
Current Liabilities (175,247) (126,546) (199,401) (73,633) (79,436)
Long-term and deferred liabilities (30,111) (28,930) (64,805) (66,341) (62,991)
Net assets 1,350,699 1,379,492 1,377,317 1,185,711 1,148,530
Financed by:

Share capital 169,717 169,717 169,717 169,717 169,717
Treasury shares (1,768) (1,768) (1,768) (1,768) (1,768)
Reserves 1,180,277 1,207,698 1,206,018 1,014,679 976,969
Shareholders’ funds 1,348,226 1,375,647 1,373,967 1,182,628 1,144,918
Non-controlling Interests 2,473 3,845 3,350 3,083 3,612

1,350,699 1,379,492 1,377,317 1,185,711 1,148,530
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(RESTATED) (RESTATED)
Financial Ratios
Earnings per share after tax and
non-controlling interests (cents)* 9.7 13.7 17.3 12.90 7.83
Return on shareholders funds (%)** 5.92 8.23 11.18 9.18 5.74
Return on Total Assets (%)** 5.22 7.13 9.63 8.17 5.02
Dividend proposed
Special final & interim net dividend per share (cents) 3.00 5.00 4.00 4.00 2.00
Final/Interim net dividend per share (cents) 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Dividend cover (times)* 1.95 1.95 2.88 2.15 1.96
Net Assets per share (S$)* 1.63 1.66 1.66 143 1.38
Debt equity ratio (net of cash) (times) Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash
Total Liabilities to shareholders funds (times) 0.15 0.11 0.19 0.12 0.12
Interest cover (times)* 298.98 220.63 126.90 82.24 40.00
NOTES
* In calculating return on shareholders’ funds and return on total assets, the average basis has been used.
* The Financial ratios are based on continuing operations.
TR Rl Report 2017 3/ =



Corporate Structure

%8 Pl METRO
|

Metro (Private) Ltd

(Metro Stores, Singapore)

Meren Pte Ltd

(Investment Trading)

Metro China
Holdings Pte Ltd

Metro Holdings
(Japan) Pte Ltd
(Investment in
Mapletree Global
Student Accommodation
Private Trust)

PT Metropolitan
Retailmart
(Metro Stores, Indonesia)

Metrobilt
Pte Ltd

Metrobilt Fairbriar Real Scarborough
Enterprise Ltd Estate Ltd DC Limited
(GIE Tower) (Middlewood Locks, (Sheffield Digital
Milliners Wharf The Campus)

Hat Box)

Sun Capital
Assets Pte Ltd

Metro Australia
Holdings Pte Ltd

Wingcrown
Investment
Pte Ltd
(The Crest at Prince
Charles Crescent)

100%

Metro Leisure
(Shanghai) Pte Ltd

Metro Properties
(Shanghai) Pte Ltd

Crown
Investments Ltd

Shanghai Shanghai Metro Firewave
Huimei Pr(yaerty City Commercial Management
Co Lt Management Limited
(Metro Tower, Shanghai) Coltd

(Metro City, Shanghai) ‘

Top Spring
International
Holdings Limited

Metro Shanghai
(HQ) Pte Ltd

InfraRed NF Shine Rise

China Real International
Estate Fund Il Limited

(A), L.P. (Shanghai Shama

(China Property Fund) Century Park)

48% 52%
HE E N
=0 Q

=5
== | B

Retail

Property

South Bright
Investment Limited
(Real Estate Debt Instrument)
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Report

At Metro, we believe in caring for our workers, giving back to the community, and also being environmentally and socially
responsible.

For the past year, we focused our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) efforts in three key areas, mainly, engaging the
elderly, support for education, as well as sustainability.

ENGAGING THE ELDERLY - CARING FOR THE GOLDEN GENERATION

SILVER BOW CAMPAIGN, IN CONJUCTION WITH THE LIONS BEFRIENDERS SERVICE ASSOCIATION (SINGAPORE)

In order to raise public awareness of the issue of social isolation among seniors, Metro teamed up with Lions Befrienders,
a voluntary welfare organisation, to provide support for senior citizens and enrich their lives.

Alongside the official launch of Metro Christmas Magic event on 9 November 2016, Metro and Lion Befrienders jointly
launched a ‘silver bow campaign’ This campaign, held from 9 November to 25 December 2016, was specially planned
to raise awareness of elderly isolation, and also to inspire the community to show their support for the elderly. Having
people take the step to wear the silver bow is significant because it acknowledges the uniqueness and individuality of
every senior and advocates the community to take the lead, socialise and build rapport with them. At this campaign,
Metro set a Singapore record of having the most number of people, a total of 227, who wore the silver bow, within two
hours.

During the period, shoppers who made a minimum donation of $30 received a silver bow charm or brooch, and for a
$40 donation, they received a set of silver bow cufflinks, all available exclusively at all Metro stores. A total count of 1,348
pledge cards were collected, with hashtag posts of 24, making a total of 1,372,

EQUIPPING THE NEXT GENERATION THROUGH EDUCATION

SHANGHAI CHILDREN’S FUND

Wanting youths to have the opportunity to participate in day care classes during the summer holidays, Metro supported
the Shanghai Children’s Fund with donations of over RMB 1 million, and to-date has provided students the opportunity
to participate in day care classes during the summer holidays.

At this summer camp, the youths had opportunities to participate in activities and programmes which impart important
values and life skills.

To support this initiative and also allow it to be more accessible to more youths, a new round of donations amounting to
a total of RMB 1 million has been earmarked for the period from 2016 to 2018.

METRO SCHOLARSHIP

Metro believes that education is the key to a better future for all. In this regard, Metro contributes generously to students
of the Xuhui district in Shanghai, through the Metro Scholarship. Initiated by the late Mr Jopie Ong (former Group
Managing Director of Metro), the Metro scholarship donates RMB 100,000 each year to the scholarship programme.

Having started in 2005, this scholarship has since provided over 1,000 primary and secondary school students with the
means to achieve their education aspirations.

SHANGHAI XUHUI DISTRICT EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT FUND

Having experienced and competent teaching professionals is important to cultivating youths and making a difference in
their learning journey.

Metro recognises this and donated over RMB 450,000 in the last three years to the Shanghai Xuhui District Educational
Development Fund, which continues to develop quality curriculum and reward outstanding teachers in the district.
Going forward, Metro will renew its commitment to donate RMB 150,000 annually for the next three years, ending 2019.
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Report

FENG YANG SHANGHAI METRO HOPE SCHOOL

Over the years, our team from Shanghai Metro also made frequent visits to the Feng Yang Shanghai Metro Hope School
to offer help and care for the students. In late 2016, volunteers from Metro visited the school to donate sports items,
teaching equipment, and awarded scholarships to students with financial needs.

SUSTAINABILITY

In 2017, efforts to conserve the environment was a key part of our sustainability agenda.

SHANGHAI ENERGY-SAVING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As part of our continued efforts to reduce energy consumption, Metro City in Shanghai has replaced its lights along the
escalators with Light-Emitting Diodes (“LED”) tubes as the ordinary incandescent lamps that were used previously were
high in energy-consumption and easily damaged.

To better protect the environment, the company also plans to spend RMB 300,000 to upgrade Metro City's garbage
disposal facilities and its auto-compression package equipment, to reduce pollution and the impact on the environment.

In 2017, for Metro Tower and Metro City, Metro also plans to replace its road lamps, wall lamps and lawn lights with LED
tubes. After these replacements, there will be a 78% saving in electricity usage, equivalent to 4.51 tons of coal per year.

FULLY COMMITTED TO OUR SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Cognisant of our role as a socially responsible business with diverse stakeholders across the world, Metro is committed to
supporting the community and conserving the environment. The Group strives to leave a sustainable and positive long-
term impact for the betterment of society to pave the way for a better world that future generations can benefit from.
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Corporate Governance

Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro” or “the Company”) is committed to high standards of corporate governance. This Report
describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific reference to the Code of Corporate Governance
2012 (the “Code 2012").

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is
collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with management to achieve
this objective and the management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board oversees the business affairs of the Group and sets overall corporate strategy and direction. It approves the
Group's strategic plans, key business initiatives and financial objectives, major investment and divestment and funding
proposals. The Board also monitors operating and financial performance and oversees the processes for risk management,
financial reporting and compliance and evaluating the adequacy of internal controls. It approves nominations to the
Board of Directors. Matters specifically reserved for Board’s decisions are those involving material acquisitions and disposal
of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuances and dividends. The Board has adopted a set of internal
guidelines on these matters. The Board has delegated certain of its functions to the Nominating, Audit, Remuneration
and Investment Committees.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings can be convened as warranted
by circumstances. Management has access to the directors for guidance or exchange of views outside of the formal
environment of the Board meetings.

Directors are briefed on regulatory changes, especially those on the Company’s or director’s disclosure obligations. In
order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, prior to the Board meetings, the Management provides
the Board with information containing relevant background or explanatory information required to support the decision-
making process.

Newly-appointed directors will be given briefings by the Management on the business activities of the Group and its
strategic directions as well as its corporate governance practices. Newly appointed Directors will also be recommended
by the Nominating Committee to attend training in the roles and responsibilities of a listed company director if they do
not have any prior experience.

To keep abreast with developments in corporate, financial, legal and other compliance requirements, Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant courses, conferences and seminars funded by the Company.

The Board has separate and independent access to the Company Secretaries at all times. The Company Secretaries attend
Board and Committees’ meetings and are responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed. The Board also
has access to independent professional advice, where necessary, at the Company’s expense.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective
judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from management and 10% shareholders. No
individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises six directors as follows:

Board Audit Nominating Remuneration Investment
Committee Committee Committee Committee

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston

Choo Wee Leong Chairman Chairman Member Chairman
Phua Bah Lee Member Member Member Chairman -
Gerald Ong Chong Keng Member Member Member Member Member
Mrs Fang Ai Lian Member Chairman Member - -
Tan Soo Khoon Member Member - - Member
Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung* Member - - - Member

#  Appointed as Executive Director and Investment Committee member on 1 June 2016

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong is the non-executive and independent Chairman. Mr Gerald Ong Chong Keng is
a non-executive director. Mr Phua Bah Lee, Mrs Fang Ai Lian and Mr Tan Soo Khoon are non-executive and independent
directors. Mr Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung is the Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer.

The Company’s Constitution permits directors to attend meetings through the use of audio-visual communication
equipment.

The attendance of directors at Board and Committees' meetings, whilst they were members, as well as the Annual General
Meeting in FY2017 are set out below:

MHL Audit Nominating Remuneration Investment 2 :: :;II
Board Committee Committee Commiittee Committee Meeting

No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Meetings | Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Attended

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended
Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston 4 4 B B 1 ] 1 1 9 9 1
Choo Wee Leong
Phua Bah Lee 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 - - 1
Gerald Ong Chong 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 9 9 1
Keng
Mrs Fang Ai Lian 4 4 4 4 1 1 - - - - 1
Tan Soo Khoon 4 4 4 4 - - - - 9 9 1
Lawrence Chiang 3 3 _ _ B _ _ _ 2 2 1
Kok Sung

There is strong and independent element on the Board. The Board is able to exercise objective judgment independently
from Management and no individual or small group of individuals dominate the decisions of the Board.

The non-executive and independent directors contribute to the Board by monitoring and reviewing Management’s
performance against goals and objectives. Their views and opinions provide different perspectives to the Group's
businesses. While challenging Management’s proposals or decisions, they bring independent judgment to bear on
business activities and transactions, involving conflicts of interest and other complexities.
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Where appropriate and necessary, the non-executive directors would also meet without the presence of Management.

The Nominating Committee considers the Board’s present size and composition appropriate taking into account the
nature and scope of the Group’s operations, the depth and breadth of knowledge, expertise and business experiences of
the directors to govern and manage the Group’s affairs and that a majority of the Board size is independent.

Each director has been appointed on the strength of his calibre, experience and stature and not based on gender. Each
director is expected to bring a valuable range of experience and expertise to contribute to the development of the Group
strategy and the performance of its business.

The Nominating Committee reviews the size of the Board from time to time.

The Board has no dissenting view on the Chairman’s statement for the year in review.

CHAIRMAN AND GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the
executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable
concentration of power.

The Company’s Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer who is also an Executive Director are separate persons
who are not related. There is a clear segregation of the roles and responsibilities between the Chairman and the Group
Chief Executive Officer.

The Chairman provides overall vision and strategic guidance and bears responsibility for the workings of the Board.

The Group Chief Executive Officer bears full executive responsibility for the Group’s operations including making key day-
to-day operational decisions.

The Chairman assumes the responsibilities of scheduling and setting agendas for Board meetings and exercises control
over the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the Board and Management.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP AND BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of
directors to the Board.

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board
committees and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Nominating Committee comprises four directors, three of whom, including the Chairman, are independent directors.
The Committee Chairman is Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong and the other members are Mr Phua Bah Lee, Mr
Gerald Ong Chong Keng and Mrs Fang Ai Lian.

The Nominating Committee’s written key terms of reference describe its responsibilities and these include:

(i) reviewing and assessing candidates for directorships (including executive directorships) before nominating such
candidates for the approval by the Board of Directors;

(i) reviewing and recommending to the Board of Directors the re-election and appointment of any Director under the
retirement provisions in accordance with the Company’s Constitution at each annual general meeting;

(iii) reviewingthe composition of the Board of Directors annually to ensure that the Board of Directors has an appropriate
balance of independent directors and ensuring an appropriate balance of expertise, skills, attributes and abilities
among our directors;
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(iv) reviewing and determining annually if a director is independent, in accordance with the Code and any other salient
factors;

(v)  whereadirectorhas multiple board representations, deciding whether the directoris able to and has been adequately
carrying out his duties as director; and

(vi) reviewing the succession plan for directors and key executives of the Group.

The Nominating Committee recommends all appointments and re-nominations of directors to the Board. The Company'’s
Constitution provides for one-third of the directors, to retire by rotation and be subject to re-election at every Annual
General Meeting. A newly appointed director must also subject himself for retirement and re-election at the Annual
General Meeting immediately following his appointment. The Nominating Committee, in considering the nominating of
any director for re-election, will evaluate the performance of the director involved.

The Nominating Committee also determines the independence of directors and evaluates and assesses the effectiveness
of the Board taking into consideration appropriate performance criteria.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nominating Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that
directors appointed to the Board possess the background, experience and knowledge in technology, business, finance
and management skills critical to the Group’s businesses and that each director, through his unique contributions, brings
to the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be made.

The search and nomination process for new directors, if any, will be through search companies, contacts and
recommendations that go through the normal selection process, to cast its net as wide as possible for the right candidates.

New directors are appointed by the Board after the Nominating Committee has reviewed and recommended their
appointment. Such new directors are however required to submit themselves for re-election at the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

The Nominating Committee has assessed the independence of the directors based on the definition of independence as
setoutinthe Code 2012.The Nominating Committee requires all theindependent directors to confirm theirindependence
and their relationships with the directors, management and 10% shareholders of the Company by a declaration in writing
annually.

As at 31 March 2017, two independent directors, namely Mr Phua Bah Lee and Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong,
have served on the Board for more than nine years from the date of their respective first appointment. In subjecting
the independence of Mr Phua Bah Lee and Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong to particularly rigorous review, the
Nominating Committee and the Board have (with each of them abstaining from discussion and deliberation on their
independence) placed more emphasis on whether each of them has demonstrated independent judgment, integrity,
professionalism and objectivity in the discharge of his duties rather than imposing a maximum number of years that he
should serve. The Nominating Committee and the Board have noted that each of them has not hesitated to express his
own viewpoint as well as seeking clarification from Management on issues he deems necessary. It is noted that each of
them is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate matters independently, in particular from Management and
10% shareholders, notwithstanding that each of them has served more than 9 years on the Board. The Nominating
Committee and the Board also noted that Mr Phua Bah Lee is also able to exercise objective judgment on corporate
matters independently notwithstanding his common directorship in Ngee Ann Development Pte Ltd.

After due consideration and careful assessment, the Nominating Committee and the Board are of the view that Mr Phua
Bah Lee and Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong remain independent.

The Nominating Committee is also of the opinion that the directors, who have been classified as independent under the

Board Composition section, are indeed independent and the current size of the Board is adequate for the purposes of
the Group.
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When a director has multiple board representations, such director has to ensure that sufficient time and attention is
given to the affairs of the Company and the Nominating Committee is satisfied that the director is able to and has been
adequately carrying out his duties as a director of the Company. The Nominating Committee is of the view that the
issue relating to multiple board representations should be left to the judgment and discretion of each director. As such,
the Nominating Committee and the Board have decided not to set any maximum number of listed company board
representations that any director may hold.

The Nominating Committee has recommended the re-election of Mrs Fang Ai Lian and MrTan Soo Khoon who are retiring
by rotation pursuant to Article 94 of the Company’s Constitution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The retiring directors have offered themselves for re-election. The Board has accepted the recommendations of the
Nominating Committee.

The dates of initial appointment and last re-appointment/re-election of each director are set out as follows:

s Date of Last
: ; Date of Initial :
Name of Director Appointment : re-appointment/
Appointment re-election
Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong In d’e\:lggafj)éenctulgii\;gétor 18 June 2007 28 July 2016
Non-Executive/
Phua Bah Lee Independent Director 5 October 1993 28 July 2016
Gerald Ong Chong Keng No%ﬁéﬁggfi\'e 18 June 2007 28 July 2016
Mrs Fang Ai Lian Non-Executive/ 16 July 2008 22 July 2015

Independent Director

Tan Soo Khoon Non-Executly - 9 December 2011 24 July 2014
Independent Director

Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung Executive Director 1 June 2016 28 July 2016

The Nominating Committee has established a formal appraisal process to assess the performance and effectiveness of
the Board as a whole annually. It focuses on a set of performance criteria which includes the evaluation of the size and
composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information and Board accountability. The findings of such evaluations were
analysed and discussed with a view to identifying areas for improvement and implementing certain recommendations
to further enhance the effectiveness of the Board. In its evaluation, the Nominating Committee considers the expertise
and experience of each Board member, their attendance, participation and contributions to the Board both inside and
outside of Board meetings which can be in many forms, including Management’s access to him for guidance or exchange
of views outside the formal environment of the Board meetings.

No external facilitator had been engaged by the Board for this purpose.

The Nominating Committee had also considered that individual evaluation on each director was not necessary for the
time being as the assessment of the Board as a whole was sufficient.

The Nominating Committee also reviews succession plans for the Board of Directors as well as key management staff
from time to time.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and
timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed
decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
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Directors are given full access to the management team and Company Secretary, all Board and Board committees’'minutes
and all approval and information papers. In between Board meetings, important matters concerning the Company are
also put to the Board for its decision by way of circulating resolutions in writing for the Directors’ approval together with
supporting memoranda to enable the Directors to make informed decisions. The Company supports the directors, either
individually or as a group, if they require independent professional advice in discharging their duties to the Company.

PROCEDURES FORDEVELOPINGREMUNERATION POLICIES, LEVELAND MIXOF REMUNERATION
AND DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his
own remuneration.

Principle 8: The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk
policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) directors to provide good
stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However,
companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide
disclosureinrelation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration
paid to directors and key management personnel, and performance.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr Phua Bah Lee with Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong, who are non-
executive and independent directors, and Mr Gerald Ong Chong Keng, who is a non-executive director, as members.

The Remuneration Committee’s written key terms of reference describe its responsibilities and these include:

() recommending to the Board of Directors, in consultation with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, for
endorsement, a comprehensive remuneration policy framework and guidelines for remuneration of the directors
and key executives of the Group;

(ii) recommending specific remuneration packages for each of the directors and the Group Chief Executive Officer;

’

(iii) in the case of service agreements, considering what compensation commitments the directors’ or key executives
contracts of service, if any, would entail in the event of early termination with a view to be fairand avoid rewarding poor
performance and to recognise the duty to mitigate loss;

(iv) approving performance targets for assessing the performance of each of the key executives of the Group and
recommending such targets as well as employee specific remuneration packages for each of such key executive
for endorsement by the Board of Directors; and

(v) administering the share incentive plans of the Company, if any.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and recommends to the Board the framework of remuneration for key executives
and for directors serving on the Board and Board committees. The review of specific remuneration packages includes
fees, salaries, bonuses and incentives. Although the recommendations are made in consultation with Management, the
remuneration packages are ultimately approved by the Board. No director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The executive director has a service contract which includes terms of termination under appropriate notice. Non-executive
directors are remunerated based on basic fees for serving on the Board and Board committees as is the executive director.

Such fees are recommended for approval by shareholders as a lump sum payment at the Annual General Meeting.

The Remuneration Committee has access to expert professional advice on remuneration matters whenever there is a
need to obtain such advice.
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The Company does not have a share option scheme.

Remuneration for key executives are based on corporate and individual performance with certain key executives entitled
to profit-sharing bonuses calculated as a percentage of profit from operations and based on certain profits arising from
disposals of investments and investment properties on a realised basis.

At the moment, the Company does not use any contractual provisions to reclaim incentive components of remuneration
from executive directors and key management executives in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial
results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Remuneration Committee will consider, if
required, whether there is a requirement to institute such contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim the
incentive components of the remuneration of the executive directors and key management executives paid in prior years
in such exceptional circumstances.

Breakdown of directors’ remuneration for FY2017:

Total Base Salary Performance- Long

Name of Director Remuneration etc/Directors’ Related/ Term
$$000 Fees Bonuses Incentive

Lt-Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong 222 100% = =
Phua Bah Lee 96 100% - -
Gerald Ong Chong Keng 151 100% - -
Mrs Fang Ai Lian 107 100% - -
Tan Soo Khoon 137 100% - -
Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung 3,011 2% 53% 5%

Remuneration of top four key executives (who are not directors) for FY2017:
Name of Key Executive etc Related/Bonuses Incentive
551,250,000 to 551,499,999
Lee Chin Yin 58% 28% 14%
$5750,000 to $5999,999
David Tang Kai Kong 75% 25% -
$5500,000 to 55749,999
Wong Sioe Hong 83% 17% -
$5250,000 to $5499,999
Nil = - -
Up to $5249,999
Yip Hoong Mun* 72% 28% =
*  Appointed as Group Chief Operating Officer with effect from 3 February 2017

Given the highly competitive industry conditions the Group operates in and in the interest of maintaining good morale
and a strong spirit of teamwork within the Group, the disclosure relating to the remuneration of the top four key executives
(who are not directors) of the Group is only set out in bands of $$250,000 and above. Their profiles are found on page 17.

The aggregate total remuneration of the top four key management personnel (who are not directors or the Group Chief
Executive Officer was 5$3,101,923.

There are no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a director or the Group Chief Executive
Officer and whose remuneration exceeds $$50,000 for the financial year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10: The Board should present abalanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance,
position and prospects.

The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects including information on all major developments that affect the Group
and strives to maintain a high standard of transparency.

Management provides all members of the Board with management accounts which present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and prospects on a monthly basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS, AUDIT COMMITTEE AND INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’interests and the
company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

Principle 12: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out
its authority and duties.

Principle 13: The Company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and
independent of the activities it audits.

The Audit Committee comprises three non-executive independent directors and one non-executive director. It is chaired
by Mrs Fang Ai Lian and the members are Mr Phua Bah Lee, Mr Gerald Ong Chong Keng and Mr Tan Soo Khoon. The Audit
Committee has full authority to investigate matters relating to the Group and any matters within its terms of reference.

The Audit Committee’s written key terms of reference describe its responsibilities and these include:

(i) assisting the Board of Directors in discharging its statutory responsibilities on financing and accounting matters;

(i) reviewing significant financial reporting issues and judgments to ensure the integrity of the financial statements
and any formal announcements relating to financial performance;

(iii) reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity of the
external auditor;

(iv) reviewing and evaluating with internal auditors, the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls,
including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management policies
and framework;

(v) reviewing any interested person transactions as defined in the Listing Manual;

(vi) appraising and reporting to the Board of Directors on the audits undertaken by the external auditors and internal
auditors, the adequacy of disclosure of information, and the appropriateness and quality of the system of
management and internal controls;

(vii) making recommendations to the Board of Directors on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors and internal auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors and internal auditors; and

(viii) reviewing whistle blowing and fraud investigations within the Group and ensuring appropriate follow up action, if
required.
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The Audit Committee has discussed with Management the accounting principles that were applied and their judgment
of items that might affect the integrity of the financial statements. The following significant issues were discussed with
management and the external auditors and reviewed by the Audit Committee in respect of FY 2017:

How the Audit Committee addressed these issues

Valuation of _ The Audit Committee considered the appropriateness of the approach and methodology
Investment properties  3pplied to the valuation model in assessing the valuation of the investment properties.

The Audit Committee also considered the reasonableness of the basis and the inputs used in
the valuation model, as well as the objectivity, independence and competence of the external
appraisers appointed to perform the valuations.

The valuation of investment properties was also an area of focus for the external auditor. The
external auditor has included this item as a key audit matter in its audit report for FY 2017 on
page 57 of the Annual Report.

Impairment The Audit Committee considered the appropriateness of the approach and methodology
assessment of interest  used in the impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures, which are
in associates and joint  mainly involved in the business of property development.
ventures
The recoverability of the interest in certain of these associates and joint ventures are
dependent on the outcome of the relevant development projects.

The Audit Committee was periodically briefed on the development of key projects and
market trends which might exert downward pressure on transaction volumes and prices
of the relevant development projects. The Audit Committee also considered the risk of the
estimates of the net realisable values exceeding future selling prices, resulting in losses
when these properties are sold.

The impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures was also an area
of focus for the external auditor. The external auditor has included this item as a key audit
matter in its audit report for FY 2017 on page 57 of the Annual Report.

The Audit Committee reviews the scope, the audit plan, the results and effectiveness of the External and Internal Auditors.
The internal audit function, which is outsourced to KPMG, reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has met with the External Auditor and Internal Auditors separately without the presence of
management for the year in review. In addition, updates on changes in accounting standards and treatment are prepared
by the External Auditor and circulated to members of the Audit Committee periodically for information.

The Audit Committee having reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by Ernst & Young LLP (“EY")
and Ernst & Young member firms, including the fees paid for their audit services, non-audit services and the aggregate
amount of fees paid in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017, is of the view that the independence of the external
auditor of the Company has not been compromised.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed and confirmed that EY is a suitable audit firm to meet the Company’s audit
obligations, having regard to the adequacy of resources and experience of the firm and the assigned audit engagement
partner, EY’s other audit engagements, size and complexity of the Metro Group, number and experience of supervisory
and professional staff assigned to the audit. Accordingly, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board the re-
appointment of EY as External Auditor of the Group for the year ending 31 March 2018. Therefore, the Company complies
with Rule 712 of the Listing Manual.
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The Group has complied with the Rule 715 of the Listing Manual in relation to its auditing firms. EY has been engaged
to audit the financial statements of the Company and all its Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries and its only associated
company. This Singapore-incorporated associated company is not considered significant*.

The financial statements of significant* foreign-incorporated subsidiaries and associated companies, with the exception
of one associated company, are audited by EY member firms in the respective countries. This significant* foreign-
incorporated associated company is audited by KPMG, one of the big four audit firms in Hong Kong. Rule 716 does
not apply to the Group as all its Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries and the only Singapore-incorporated associated
company, which is not considered significant*, are audited by EY.

All the significant* foreign-incorporated joint ventures are audited by EY member firms in their respective countries. The
Group has certain Singapore-incorporated and foreign-incorporated joint ventures and associated companies which are
currently not considered significant* to the Group, and the financial statements of these joint ventures and associated
companies are audited by the other big four audit firms except for one foreign-incorporated associated company and
one foreign-incorporated joint venture which are not considered significant* and are audited by the tenth largest audit
firm (in terms of fee income) in the United Kingdom.

The following significant* foreign-incorporated associated company and name of the audit firm is as follows:

Name of significant* foreign-incorporated Associate Name of Auditor

Top Spring International Holdings Limited KPMG

*

Significant or not considered significant as defined under Clause 718 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.

The Board is cognizant of its responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the investment
of its shareholders and the assets and business of the Group. The Group has outsourced the internal audit function of the
Group to KPMG. They conduct regular audit of internal control systems of the Group’s companies, recommend necessary
improvements and enhancements, and report to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee examines the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. The many assurance mechanisms
operating are supplemented by the Internal Auditors’reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls,
including financial, operational and compliance and information technology controls. Any material non-compliance or
failures in internal controls and recommendations for improvements are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by Management on the recommendations made by the Internal
Auditors in this respect.

In addition, the Group has also put in place appropriate risk management policies and processes to evaluate the operating,
investment and financial risks of the Group. In evaluating a new investment proposal or business opportunity, several
factors will be considered by Management and the Board before a decision is being taken. These factors, which are
essentially designed to ensure that the rate of returns commensurate with the risk exposure taken, including evaluating
(i) return on investment; (i) the pay-back period; (iii) cash flow generated from the operation; (iv) potential for growth; (v)
investment climate; and (vi) political stability.

The main areas of financial risk faced by the Group are foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. Further details of the financial risks and how the Group manages them are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

The Board has obtained a written confirmation from the Group Chief Executive Officer, who is also the Executive Director,
and the Group Financial Controller:

(@) thatthefinancial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Group's operations and finances; and

(b) regarding the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
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Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the Internal Auditors,
and the statutory audit conducted by the External Auditor, and reviews performed by Management and various Board
committees, the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the opinion that the system of internal controls,
including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls and risk management, were adequate
and effective as at 31 March 2017 to meet the needs of the Group's existing business objectives, having addressed the
risks which the Group considers relevant and material to its operations. While acknowledging their responsibility for the
system of internal controls, the Directors are aware that such a system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate risks,
and therefore cannot provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material
errors or misstatements, poor judgment in decision-making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Quarterly and full year results are reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to their submission to the Board as are interested
person transactions.

The Audit Committee has putin place “Whistle-Blowing”arrangements by which staff and third parties may, in confidence,
raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective is to ensure
that arrangements are in place for independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow up action.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS, COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND CONDUCT OF
SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and
facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to
promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders
and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive information is always released via SGX-ST's website
after trading hours. Results and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory periods.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting to ensure a greater level of shareholders’participation
and for them to be kept up to date as to the strategies and goals of the Group. All shareholders of the Company receive a
copy of the Annual Report, the Notice of Annual General Meeting and circulars and notices pertaining to any Extraordinary
General Meetings of the Company. To facilitate participation by the shareholders, the Constitution of the Company allows
the shareholders to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company by proxies. A shareholder who is not a relevant
intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the general meetings while
a member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the
general meetings through proxy forms deposited 48 hours before the meeting. Notices of general meetings are also
advertised in newspapers and available on the SGX-ST’s website.

Every matter requiring shareholders’ approval is proposed as a separate resolution. Each item of special business
included in the notice of meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution.
As authentication of shareholder identity information and other related security issues still remain a concern, the
Company has decided, for the time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail, facsimile or email. Participation of
shareholders is encouraged at the Annual General Meeting through the open question and answer session. The Directors,
Management and the External Auditor are available to address any queries or concerns on matters relating to the Group
and its operations.

To promote greater transparency and effective participation, the Company conducts the voting of all its resolutions
by poll at all general meetings. The detailed voting results, including the total number of votes cast for or against each
resolution tabled, are announced at the general meetings and via SGX-ST’s website.
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Corporate Governance

DIVIDEND POLICY

While the Company has not formally instituted a dividend policy, it has a good track record of paying annual dividends
to shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout and/or determining the form, frequency and/or the amount of such
dividend payout, the Board will take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial position, retained earnings, results of
operation and cash flow, the Group'’s expected working capital requirements, the Group’s expected capital expenditure
and future expansion and investment plans and other funding requirements, general economic conditions and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Group.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend payout.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has adopted an internal code which prohibits the Company, directors and employees of the Group from
dealings in securities of the Company while in possession of price-sensitive information, and during the period beginning
two weeks and one month before the announcement of the quarterly and annual results respectively, and ending on the
date of announcement. In addition, directors and employees are expected to observe insider trading laws at all times
even when dealing in securities within the permitted period.

It also discourages dealings on short term considerations. Directors and employees are required to report securities
dealings to the Company Secretaries who will assist to make the necessary announcements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS ENTERED WITH THE GROUP

During FY2017, there were the following transactions with certain directors and/or with firms/companies in which they
are members and/or have a substantial financial interest:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
120 120 120 120

Gerald Ong Chong Keng*

# Corporate advisory fees paid or payable to OEC Holdings Pte Ltd.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Interested person transactions carried out during the financial year which fall under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of
the SGX-ST were as follows:

DIRECTORS AND THEIR ASSOCIATES

(i) Transaction with Mr Gerald Ong Chong Keng is for corporate advisory fees paid or payable to OEC Holdings Pte Ltd
(please refer to above section on“Directors’Interests in Contracts entered with the Group”). The value of this Interested
Person Transaction with Mr Gerald Ong was about 0.009% of the Group NTA as at 31 March 2016.The Group NTA as at
31 March 2016 was S$1,375,647,000.

(i) Concessionaire Agreement entered into by Metro Private Limited with Crystal Time (S) Pte Ltd from 1 April 2016 to
31 March 2017 to sell products at Metro Centrepoint:

% of the Group NTA
as at31/3/2016*
Tan Soo Khoon 5$14,296 0.001

* Based on the Group NTA of S$1,375,647,000 as at 31 March 2016.
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Directors’ Statement

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of Metro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance
sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

——— 5

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors,

(i)  the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in
equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 March 2017 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date, and

(ii)  atthe date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they fall due.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Winston Choo Wee Leong (Chairman)
Phua Bah Lee

Gerald Ong Chong Keng

Fang Ai Lian

Tan Soo Khoon

Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, except as disclosed below.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The following director, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors
shareholdings, required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, an interest in
shares and warrants of the Company as stated below:

7

Shareholdings registered in the Shareholdings in which the director
name of the director is deemed to have an interest
As at As at As at As at As at As at
Name of director 1.4.2016 31.3.2017 21.4.2017 1.4.2016 31.3.2017 21.4.2017
Ordinary shares
Phua Bah Lee - - - 72,576 72,576 72,576

No other director of the Company who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in any other
shares of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Directors’ Statement

5. OPTIONS

There is presently no option scheme on unissued shares in respect of the Company.

6. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises non-executive and independent directors, Mrs Fang Ai Lian (who chairs the Audit
Committee), Mr Phua Bah Lee and MrTan Soo Khoon, and non-executive and non-independent director, Mr Gerald
Ong Chong Keng.

The Committee meets at least four times a year and performs its functions in accordance with the Act.

The Committee reviews the overall scope of both internal and external audits and the assistance given by the
Company’s officers to the auditors. It meets with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the
results of their respective examinations and their evaluation of the Group’s system of internal accounting and
financial controls. The Committee also reviews the annual financial statements of the Company and of the Group
and the auditor’s report thereon before submission to the Board, as well as interested person transactions. All
major findings and recommendations are brought to the attention of the Board of Directors.

The Committee has also reviewed the fees paid to the external auditors and are of the opinion that their
independence has not been impaired.

The Committee recommends that Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for re-appointment as auditor at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

7. AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Winston Choo Wee Leong
Chairman

Lawrence Chiang Kok Sung
Executive Director

Singapore
21 June 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Metro Holdings Limited

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Metro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2017, the statements of
changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the balance sheet and the statement
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2017 and of
the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA)
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our auditincluded the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit
opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Metro Holdings Limited

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

1. Valuation of investment properties

The Group records its investment properties at fair values. Management engages independent professional valuers
(“External Appraisers”) in the countries in which the investment properties are located to determine fair value of the
properties. The External Appraisers determine the fair values of the investment properties based on the average of
the direct capitalisation method and the direct comparison method. Management reviews the valuation carried out
by the External Appraisers and adopts the fair value.

The valuation of the investment properties is considered a key audit matter because it involves the use of a range
of estimates (amongst others, capitalisation rates and rental rates) made by management.

As part of our audit procedures, we considered the independence, objectivity and expertise of the External
Appraisers. We evaluated the qualifications and competence of the External Appraisers. We also read the terms of
engagement of the External Appraisers with the Group to determine whether there were any limitation in the scope
of work or matters that might affect the objectivity of the External Appraisers.

We considered the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used. We assessed, through a review of the
auditors’ working papers of the significant subsidiary of the Group, the key assumptions used in the projected
cash flows by comparing to supporting leases and other documents. We assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions and estimates used based on available industry data and current property market outlook.

Based on the work performed, we considered the valuation methodologies and key assumptions used by
management to be appropriate.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures included in Note 12 and 33(d) to the financial statements.

2. Impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures

The Group has significant interest in associates and joint ventures. The Group's interest in associates and joint
ventures comprise the investments and amounts due from associates and joint ventures. The associates and joint
ventures of the Group are mainly involved in the business of property development.

The recoverability of the interest in certain of these associates and joint ventures are dependent on the outcome
of the relevant development projects. Should demand weaken and oversupply occur due to a slowdown in
economic activity or government policies, this might exert downward pressure on transaction volumes and
prices in these markets. This could lead to future trends in the relevant markets departing from known trends
based on past experience. There is, therefore, a risk of the estimates of net realisable values exceeding future
selling prices, resulting in losses when these properties are sold. Because of the economic environment at this
point in time, certain of the interests in associates and joint ventures are at risk of impairment and consequently
management conducted an impairment assessment to determine whether any further impairment loss is required.
Based on the assessment carried out, no further impairment loss was recognised for the financial year ended
31 March 2017.

We have identified this as a key audit matter because the impairment assessment involves significant management
judgement and are based on assumptions that are affected by expected future market and economic conditions.

Amongst other audit procedures, we discussed with management and auditors of the associates and joint ventures
future market conditions and the status of projects under construction. We performed a review of the auditors’
working papers of the significant associates and joint ventures of the Group. We reviewed the audit working papers
and had discussions with key component auditors to assess the reasonableness of revenue and budgeted costs to
complete the project.In addition, we assessed the reasonableness of the estimated selling prices of the development
properties and properties under construction by comparing to recently transacted prices and prices of comparable
projects located in the same vicinity as the development project. We focused our work on development projects
with slower-than-expected sales.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Metro Holdings Limited

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. Impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

The results of our evaluation shows that management’s impairment assessments on the interest in associates and
joint ventures are reasonable.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosure on the impairment loss in interest in associates and joint ventures
in Note 15, 16, 17 and 18 to the financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Metro Holdings Limited

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Metro Holdings Limited

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lim Siew Koon.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

21 June 2017
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars) Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Revenue 4 131,224 154,595
Cost of revenue 5 (122,240) (143,237)
Gross profit 8,984 11,358
Other income, including interest income 6 31,168 27,565
Changes in fair value of short term investments (777 (6,633)
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture 18 - (9,472)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties 12 832 (813)
General and administrative expenses (22,184) (42,936)
Finance costs 7 (277) (557)
Share of associates’ results, net of tax 15 42,514 75,660
Share of joint ventures’ results, net of tax 17 22,275 68,160
Profit from operations before taxation 8 82,541 122,332
Taxation 9 (1,522) (9,040)
Profit net of taxation 81,019 113,292
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 80,682 113,129
Non-controlling interests 337 163
81,019 113,292
Cents Cents
Earnings per share
Basic 10 9.7 13.7
Diluted 10 9.7 13.7

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars) 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Profit net of taxation 81,019 113,292

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive income of an associate 290 42

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation adjustments on foreign subsidiaries, associates

and joint ventures (14,105) (36,228)
Net fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets (4,273) 8,868
Net fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets

reclassified to profit or loss (5,482) (2,234)
Translation and other reserve of joint ventures transferred to

profit or loss upon disposal - (12,329)
Share of other comprehensive expense of associates and

joint ventures (28,279) (19,554)
Other comprehensive expense for the financial year (51,849) (61,435)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 29,170 51,857

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 30,542 51,362
Non-controlling interests (1,372) 495
29,170 51,857

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars) Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 1 5,062 4,872 73 58
Investment properties 12 104,423 106,653 - =
Subsidiaries 13 - - 17,790 17,790
Amounts due from subsidiaries 14 - - 493,239 318,972
Associates 15 373,542 396,785 500 500
Amounts due from associates 16 134,108 70,266 - -
Joint ventures 17 203,800 216,249 - -
Amounts due from joint ventures 18 178,874 128,972 - -
Investments 19 94,921 51,429 - -
Deferred tax assets 9 1,102 1,441 - -
1,095,832 976,667 511,602 337,320
Current assets
Inventories 20 19,433 19,296 - -
Prepayments 1,073 721 - 8
Accounts and other receivables 21 7,819 10,492 212 172
Tax recoverable 250 267 - -
Short term investments 19 42,208 33,919 - -
Pledged fixed bank deposits 22 111,278 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 22 278,164 493,606 9,192 18,805
460,225 558,301 9,404 18,985
Total assets 1,556,057 1,534,968 521,006 356,305

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Bank borrowings 23 65,915 - - -
Accounts and other payables 24 39,641 52,683 5,680 15,943
Amount due to an associate 16 67,457 69,050 - -
Provision for taxation 2,234 4,813 69 75

175,247 126,546 5,749 16,018
Net current assets 284,978 431,755 3,655 2,967

Non-current liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries 24 - - 244,226 46,065
Deferred income 24 13,352 12,010 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 9 16,759 16,920 11 9
30,111 28,930 244,237 46,074
Total liabilities 205,358 155,476 249,986 62,092
Net assets 1,350,699 1,379,492 271,020 294,213
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Share capital 25 169,717 169,717 169,717 169,717
Treasury shares 25 (1,768) (1,768) (1,768) (1,768)
Reserves 26 1,180,277 1,207,698 103,071 126,264
1,348,226 1,375,647 271,020 294,213
Non-controlling interests 2,473 3,845 - -
Total equity 1,350,699 1,379,492 271,020 294,213
Total equity and liabilities 1,556,057 1,534,968 521,006 356,305

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars)

Share Treasury Revenue Total
capital shares reserve equity

Company $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 April 2016 169,717 (1,768) 126,264 294,213
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive

income for the financial year - - 34,770 34,770
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends paid (Note 27) - - (57,963) (57,963)
At 31 March 2017 169,717 (1,768) 103,071 271,020
At 1 April 2015 169,717 (1,768) 103,720 271,669
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive

income for the financial year - - 72,226 72,226
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends paid (Note 27) - - (49,682) (49,682)
At 31 March 2016 169,717 (1,768) 126,264 294,213

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars) Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Operating loss before reinvestment in working capital (@) (5,100) (18,176)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,249) 6,695
Decrease in accounts and other receivables 2,336 441
Decrease in accounts and other payables (13,042) (8,008)
Cash flows used in operations (17,055) (19,048)
Interest expense paid (277) (557)
Interest income received 8,949 8,936
Income taxes paid (3,619) (5,712)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (12,002) (16,381)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of plant and equipment 1 (1,973) (1,792)
(Increase)/decrease in investments (51,908) 457
Purchase of short term investments (19,999) (2,321
Proceeds from liquidation of associates 128 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments - 3,417
Distribution from available-for-sale investments 5,482 1,557
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property - 60,233
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 44 329
Proceeds from disposal of short term investments 12,578 12,079
Investment in associates (6,746) (31,532)
Investment in a joint venture - (2,012)
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to an associate 389 (37,276)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from associates (35,878) 2,123
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from joint ventures (49,703) 75,199
Dividends received from associates 14,507 25,703
Dividends received from joint ventures 17 27,804 136,919
Dividends received from quoted investments 3,123 4,091
Changes in pledged fixed bank deposits (111,278) 28,849
Currency realignment 3,015 (1,269)
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (210,415) 274,754
Cash flows from financing activities:
Drawdown of bank borrowings 66,554 -
Repayment of bank borrowings - (60,357)
Dividends paid 27 (57,963) (49,682)
Currency realignment (639) 918
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 7,952 (109,121)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (214,465) 149,252
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash and cash equivalents (977) (5,633)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 22 493,606 349,987
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 22 278,164 493,606
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

(In Singapore dollars)

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

(a)

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital

Reconciliation between profit before taxation and operating cash flows before changes in working capital:

Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Profit from operations before taxation 82,541 122,332
Adjustments for:
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties 12 (832) 813
Finance costs 7 277 557
Depreciation of plant and equipment 1 1,727 2,674
Share of associates’ results, net of tax (42,514) (75,660)
Share of joint ventures’ results, net of tax (22,275) (68,160)
Interest and investment income 6 (14,252) (15,564)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 8 (41) (318)
Inventories written down 8 471 1,080
Allowance for/(write-back of) doubtful debts 8 2 (48)
Plant and equipment written off 8 53 269
Allowance for/(write-back of) obsolete inventories 8 641 (93)
Changes in fair value of short term investments 771 6,633
Gain on disposal of an investment property 6 - (4,430)
Gain on disposal of short term investments 6 (1,639) (448)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 6 - (932)
Distribution from available-for-sale investments 6 (5,482) (1,557)
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture 18 - 9,472
Foreign exchange adjustments (4,548) 5,204
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (5,100) (18,176)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Metro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore

and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 391A Orchard Road, #19-00,
Tower A, Ngee Ann City, Singapore 238873.

The principal activities of the Company are those of a management, property investment and holding company.

The principal activities of the Group are those of management and holding companies, retailers and department
store operators, property investment and developers.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand ($'000) except where otherwise indicated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2016. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial
performance or position of the Group and the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2.3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after

Amendments to FRS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017
Amendments to FRS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017

Improvements to FRSs (December 2016)
- Amendments to FRS 112: Classification and Measurement of Share-based

Payment Transactions 1 January 2017
- Amendments to FRS 28: Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at fair value 1 January 2018
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
Amendments to FRS 102: Classification and Measurement of Share-based

Payment Transactions 1 January 2018
Amendments to FRS 40: Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018
INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018
Amendments to FRS 104 Applying FRS 109 Financial Instruments with FRS 104

Insurance Contract 1 January 2018
FRS 116 Leases 1 January 2019
Amendments to FRS 110 & FRS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture To be determined

Except for FRS 115, FRS 109 and FRS 116, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards above
will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the
impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 115, FRS 109 and FRS 116 are described below.

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under FRS
115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in FRS 115 provide a more structured
approach to measuring and recognising revenue when the promised goods and services are transferred to the
customer i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied.

The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under FRS. A full
retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is
permitted.

The Group has performed preliminary assessment of the impact of FRS 115. Based on this preliminary assessment,
which is subjected to changes arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis, the impact upon adoption of FRS
115 is not expected to be material to the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, impairment of
financial assets and hedge accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow
characteristics and the business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in FRS 109 are
based on an expected credit loss model and replace the FRS 39 incurred loss model.

(@) Classification and measurement

The Group will continue to measure its currently held-for-trading equity securities at fair value though profit
or loss (FVTPL). The Group does not expect any significant impact arising from these changes. The Group will
assess whether to measure its currently held available-for-sale quoted and unquoted equity securities at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

(b) Impairment

FRS 109 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and trade
receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the simplified approach and
record lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables. Upon application of the expected credit loss model,
the Group will assess the impact on its equity due to unsecured nature of its loans and receivables, and it will
need to perform a more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information,
including forward-looking elements to determine the extent of impact.

Transition

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date without restating prior periods’
information and recognises any difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the
beginning of the annual reporting period at the date of initial application in the opening retained earnings.

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets to reflect the rights to use the leased assets
and the associated obligations for lease payments as well as the corresponding interest expense and depreciation
charges. The standard includes two recognition exemption for leases — leases of ‘low value’assets and short-term
leases. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt the new standard on the
required effective date. The Group expects the adoption of the new standard will result in increase in total assets
and total liabilities, EBITDA and gearing ratio.

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017 7 1 _— =



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont'd)

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a net deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at
the date when control is lost;

- de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

- re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and
the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or
liability, will be recognised in the profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree
(if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another FRS.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as
gain on bargain purchase in the profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for
goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of
the Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6 Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.

(@) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognitionin the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end
of the reporting period are recognised in the profit or loss.

(b) Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at the rate
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are
recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal without loss of control of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interest and are not recognised in the profit or loss. For partial disposals of associates or joint ventures that are
foreign operations, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to the
profit or loss.

2.7 Plant and equipment

All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Motor vehicles - 5Syears
Plant, equipment, furniture and fittings - 3 to 10 years
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2.

2.7

2.8

2.9
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Plant and equipment (cont’d)

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

Anitem of plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year
the asset is de-recognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are either owned by the Group or leased under a finance lease that
are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes, or in the ordinary course of business. Investment properties
comprise completed investment properties and properties that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Properties held under operating leases are classified as investment properties when the
definition of an investment property is met.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the profit or loss in the
year of retirement or disposal.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of
the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously
revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also
recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont'd)

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised
previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.10 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment losses.

2.11 Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties have joint control. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

A joint arrangement is classified either as joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations of
the parties to the arrangement.

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
relating to the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint operation. To the extent the joint arrangement provides
the Group with rights to the net assets of the arrangement, the arrangement is a joint venture.

Joint ventures

The Group recognises its interest in a joint venture as an investment and accounts for the investment using the
equity method. The accounting policy for investment in joint venture is set out in Note 2.12.

2.12 Joint ventures and associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies.

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method from the date on
which it becomes an associate or joint venture.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s share of the
associate or joint venture’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Joint ventures and associates (cont’d)

Under the equity method, the investment in associates or joint ventures are carried in the balance sheet at cost
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates or joint ventures. The profit or loss
reflects the share of results of the operations of the associates or joint ventures. Distributions received from joint
ventures or associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised
in other comprehensive income by the associates or joint ventures, the Group recognises its share of such changes
in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates or joint ventures.

When the Group's share of losses in an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or
joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group's investment in associate or joint venture. The Group determines at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture
is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or
loss.

For financial statements of the associate or joint venture which are prepared as of the same reporting date of
the Company, the most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in
applying the equity method. Where the date of the audited financial statements used is not co-terminus with that
of the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and unaudited
management financial statements to the end of the financial year.

When the financial statements of an associate or joint venture used in applying the equity method are prepared
as of a different reporting date from that of the Company, adjustments are made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Company. In any case, the
difference between the end of the reporting period of the associate and that of the investor shall be no more than
three months. The length of the reporting periods and any difference between the ends of the reporting periods
shall be the same from period to period.

Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d)
(a) Financial assets (contd)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair
value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in
the profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
exchange differences, interest and dividend income.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the loans and receivables are de-recognised or impaired, and
through the amortisation process.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified
as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to
maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the held-to-maturity investments are de-recognised or impaired, and through the amortisation
process.

The Group has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition as held-to-maturity investments.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in the market conditions.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d)

— /3

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (contd)
Subsequent measurement (contd)

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets (cont'd)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any
gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and
interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in the profit or loss. The cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is de-recognised.

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less
impairment loss.
De-recognition

A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired.
On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum
ofthe consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of other financial liabilities not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading. Financial
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are recognised in
the profit or loss.

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d)
(b) Financial liabilities (contd)
Subsequent measurement (cont'd)

(ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the amortisation
process.

De-recognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired.

(a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that
are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them forimpairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
If aloan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The
impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is reduced directly or if
an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written
off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has incurred, the
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor
and default or significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the
reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.
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2.14

2.15

2.16

- ()

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
(b) Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the
issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment
loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent
periods.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment include (i)
significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant changes with an adverse
effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer
operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in equity instrument may not be recovered; and (jii) a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its costs. Significant’is to be evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its acquisition
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income and recognised in
the profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments are not recognised in the
profit or loss; increase in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

In the case of debtinstruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised in the profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset, using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part
of finance income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed in the profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
For retail inventories, cost comprises the weighted average cost (which includes the related charges incurred in

importing such merchandise) of merchandise derived at using the Retail Inventory Method or is ascertained on a
first-in-first-out basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.16 Inventories (cont’d)

For all other inventories, cost comprises the invoiced value of goods on a specific identification basis, the first-in-
first-out basis or the weighted average basis as appropriate plus related charges incurred in importing such goods.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value
of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

2.17 Provisions
General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision
is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.18 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an income item, it is recognised in the profit
orloss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Grants related to income may be presented as a credit in profit or loss,
either separately or under a general heading such as“Other income”.

2.19 Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are
recognised as income in the profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be
higher than the amount initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with
the difference charged to the profit or loss.

2.20 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when
the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has
operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central Provident
Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.

Subsidiaries incorporated and operating in The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") are required to provide
certain staff pension benefits to its employees under existing PRC legislations. Pension contributions are made
atrates stipulated by PRC legislations to a pension fund managed by government agencies, who are responsible
for administering these amounts for the subsidiaries’employees.

Contributions to national pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
service is performed.
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to employees. The
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Long-service benefits

Employee entitlement to long-service gratuities are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees upon the fulfilment of service conditions. The estimated liability for gratuities is recognised for
services rendered by the employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Profit-sharing bonuses

Certain key executives are entitled to profit-sharing bonuses on certain profits on a realised basis. The amounts
payable are recognised in the profit or loss in the period which these profits are realised.

2.22 Leases

— )

(a)

As lessee

Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount
capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease
term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.

2.22

2.23

2.24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Leases (cont'd)
(b) As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.
The accounting policy of rental income is set out in Note 2.23(b). Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of consideration received or receivable excluding taxes.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership
of the goods to customers, usually on delivery of goods. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there
are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible
return of goods.

(b) Rentalincome

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of
rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(c) Fee and service income
Fee and service income are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis upon services rendered on a straight-
line basis over the service period.

(d) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

(e) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Taxes
(@) Currentincome tax

Currentincome tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, in the countries where
the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items
recognised outside the profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.24 Taxes (contd)
(b) Deferred tax

——— 3/

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised except:

- Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
assetisrealised or theliability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside the profit or loss is recognised outside the profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill
on acquisition.

Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

- Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense item as applicable; and

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’'D)

2.25 Segmentreporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services
which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of
the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the
Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess
the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 31, including the
factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.26 Share capital and share issue expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.27 Treasury shares

The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted
from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the
consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are
nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

2.28 Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(@) apossible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) Itis not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; or

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably
determined.
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3.

3.1

3.2

— ()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected in the future periods.

Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management did not make any judgements that have
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available
when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Revaluation of investment property

The Group records its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognised in profit
or loss.

Management engages independent professional valuers (“External Appraisers”) in the countries in which the
investment properties are located to determine fair value of the properties. The External Appraisers determine
the fair values of the investment properties based on the average of the direct capitalisation method and the
direct comparison method. Management reviews the valuation carried out by the External Appraisers and
adopts the fair value.

The determination of the fair values of the investment properties involves the use of a range of estimates
(amongst others, capitalisation rates and rental rates) made by management.

The carrying amount and key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the investment properties are
further explained in Note 33(d).

(b) Impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures

The Group has significant interest in associates and joint ventures. The Group's interest in associates and joint
ventures comprise the investments and amounts due from associates and joint ventures. The associates and
joint ventures of the Group are mainly involved in the business of property development.

The recoverability of the interest in certain of these associates and joint ventures are dependent on the
outcome of the relevant development projects. Should demand weaken and oversupply occur due to
a slowdown in economic activity or government policies, this might exert downward pressure on transaction
volumes and prices in these markets. This could lead to future trends in the relevant markets departing from
known trends based on past experience.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)

(b) Impairment assessment of interest in associates and joint ventures (contd)

There is, therefore, a risk of the estimates of net realisable values exceeding future selling prices, resulting in
losses when these properties are sold. Because of the economic environment at this point in time, certain of
the interests in associates and joint ventures are at risk of impairment and consequently management
conducted an impairment assessment to determine whether any furtherimpairment loss is required. Based on
the assessment carried out, no further impairment loss was recognised for the financial year ended 31 March
2017.

The carrying amounts of the Group's interest in associates and joint ventures at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in Note 15, 16, 17 and 18 to the financial statements.

4. REVENUE

Revenue generated by the Group's operations is as follows:

Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Retail - Sale of goods 124,71 146,095
Property - Rental income and related service income 12 6,513 8,500
131,224 154,595

Revenue of the Group comprises sales of goods and services and net commission from concessionaires.

Revenue of the Group reported on a gross transaction basis, which includes the value of the overall activity based
on the gross value of sales achieved by concessionaires, is presented as follows:

Retail 198,617 241,482
Property 6,513 8,500
205,130 249,982

5. COST OF REVENUE

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Retail 121,187 141,519
Property 1,053 1,718
122,240 143,237
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6. OTHERINCOME, INCLUDING INTEREST INCOME

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Interest income from:
- Loans and receivables 11,129 11,473
Dividends, gross from:
- Available-for-sale financial assets 505 874
- Held-for-trading financial assets 2,618 3,217
3,123 4,091
Net gain on financial instruments:
- Available-for-sale financial assets 5,482 2,489
- Held-for-trading financial assets 1,639 448
7121 2,937
Management fee income from associates 910 938
Foreign exchange gain 5,720 6
Other rental income 955 1,463
Gain on disposal of an investment property - 4,430
Sundry income 2,210 2,227
31,168 27,565
7. FINANCE COSTS
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Interest expense on:
- Bank loans 277 557
8. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXATION
Profit from operations before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting):
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, are as follows:
Salaries, bonuses and other related costs 22,279 37,150
Contributions to CPF and other defined contribution schemes 2,346 2,875
Provision for long-service benefits 445 601
25,070 40,626
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8. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXATION (CONT’D)

Profit from operations before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting) (cont'd):

Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are as follows:
Directors of the Company
- Other emoluments 2,947 12,264
- Fees payable 777 687
- Professional fees paid and payable to a company in which a
Director has an interest 120 120
3,844 13,071
Rental expense 28 23,375 29,035
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss:
Included in other income (5,720) (6)
Included in general and administrative expenses - 8,311
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net (5,720) 8,305
Depreciation of plant and equipment 1 1,727 2,674
Inventories written down 20 471 1,080
Allowance for/(write-back of) obsolete inventories 20 641 (93)
Audit fees:
- Auditors of the Company 455 477
- Other auditors 193 204
Non-audit fees:
- Auditors of the Company 95 137
- Other auditors 123 171
Allowance for/(write-back of) doubtful debts 21 2 (48)
Plant and equipment written off 53 269
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (41) (318)

Rental expense includes total contingent rents recognised as an expense for the financial year ended 31 March

2017 amounting to $3,223,000 (2016: $4,032,000).
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8.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXATION (CONT'D)

Presentation of expenses recognised in consolidated income statement based on function is as follows:

Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Revenue 4 131,224 154,595

Cost of revenue 5 (122,240) (143,237)
Gross profit 8,984 11,358

Other income, net 31,229 20,119

General and administrative expenses (22,184) (52,408)
Finance costs 7 (277) (557)
Share of associates’ results, net of tax 15 42,514 75,660

Share of joint ventures’ results, net of tax 17 22,275 68,160

Profit before income tax 82,541 122,332

Taxation 9 (1,522) (9,040)
Profit for the year 81,019 113,292

TAXATION

(a) Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the financial years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 are:

Consolidated income statement

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Current taxation
- Current income taxation 3,997 6,497
- (Oven)/under provision in respect of prior financial years (3,053) 90
944 6,587
Deferred taxation
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences 283 3,016
- Under/(over) provision in respect of prior financial years 292 (569)
575 2,447
Withholding tax 3 6
Income tax expense recognised in the consolidated income statement 1,522 9,040
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

9.

TAXATION (CONT’D)

(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

The reconciliation of taxation determined on the results of the Group by applying the Singapore statutory

income tax rate for the financial years ended 31 March are as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Profit from operations before taxation 82,541 122,332
Less: Share of results of equity-accounted associates* (42,514) (75,660)
Less: Share of results of equity-accounted joint ventures* (22,275) (68,160)

17,752 (21,488)
Taxation calculated at Singapore statutory income tax rate of 17%

(2016: 17%) 3,018 (3,653)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,501 7112
Difference arising from tax rates applicable to foreign entities 589 4,251
Income not subject to tax (4,021) (2,258)
Unremitted foreign sourced income 1,681 4,329
Deferred tax not recognised (582) (26)
Over provision in respect of prior financial years (2,761) (479)
Withholding tax 3 6
Others 94 (242)
Taxation expense recognised in the consolidated income statement 1,522 9,040

*  These are presented net of tax in profit or loss.

Taxation for other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. During the
current financial year, the income tax rate applicable to foreign subsidiaries are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
Mauritius 15% 15%
Hong Kong 16.5% 16.5%
China 25% 25%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

9. TAXATION (CONT’D)

(c) Deferred taxation

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 15,479 13,820 9 325
Foreign exchange adjustments (397) (788) - -
Charged/(credited) to income statement 575 2,447 2 (316)
Balance at end of financial year 15,657 15,479 M 9
Deferred tax assets (1,102) (1,441) - -
Deferred tax liabilities 16,759 16,920 M 9
Balance at end of financial year 15,657 15,479 M 9
Deferred taxation as at 31 March relates to the following:
Consolidated Consolidated Company
balance sheet income statement balance sheet
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Deferred tax liabilities
Differences in depreciation 13,431 13,215 603 643 - -
Fair value changes 1,398 1,016 382 (979) - -
Undistributed profits of

subsidiaries, associates and

joint ventures 6,205 7,380 (1,048) 3,084 - -
Unremitted foreign sourced

interest income 611 98 513 (238) 11 9

21,645 21,709 N 9

Deferred tax assets
Differences in depreciation (1,365) (1,365) - - - -
Fair value loss on investment

properties (3,519) (3,818) 171 (238) - -
Deferred income and other

deferred tax assets (1,104) (1,047) (46) 175 - -

15,657 15,479 1 9

Deferred income tax

expense 575 2,447
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

9.

10.

TAXATION (CONT'D)
(c) Deferred taxation (cont’d)
Unrecognised tax losses

Under the loss-transfer system of Group relief (“Group relief system), a company belonging to a group may
transfer its current year unabsorbed capital allowances, current year unutilised trade losses and current year
unabsorbed donations (loss items) to another company belonging to the same group, to be deducted against
the assessable income.

There are estimated tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances amounting to $16,774,000 and $27,000
(2016: $19,464,000 and $27,000) respectively, available for offset against future taxable profits of certain
subsidiaries of which $15,908,000 (2016: $19,335,000) has not been recognised as deferred tax asset due to
the uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities
and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies
operate.

Tax consequences of proposed dividends

There are no further Singapore income tax consequences (2016: Nil) attached to the dividends to the
shareholders proposed by the Company but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company,

used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share 80,682 113,129
No. of No. of
shares shares
‘000 ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and diluted earnings
per share computation 828,036 828,036

As at 31 March 2017, there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares (2016: Nil).

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017 93 - =



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

11.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant,
equipment,

furniture and Motor
fittings vehicles Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Group
Cost
At 1 April 2015 40,398 954 41,352
Additions 1,792 N 1,792
Disposals (39) (858) (897)
Write-offs (9,018) - (9,018)
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 33,133 96 33,229
Additions 1,973 - 1,973
Disposals (2,400) (96) (2,496)
Write-offs (539) - (539)
At 31 March 2017 32,167 - 32,167
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2015 34,381 888 35,269
Charge for 2016 2,618 56 2,674
Disposals (38) (848) (886)
Write-offs (8,700) - (8,700)
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 28,261 96 28,357
Charge for 2017 1,727 - 1,727
Disposals (2,397) (96) (2,493)
Write-offs (486) - (486)
At 31 March 2017 27,105 - 27,105
Net book value
At 31 March 2016 4,872 - 4,872
At 31 March 2017 5,062 - 5,062
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

11.

12.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)

Plant,
equipment,
furniture Motor
and fittings vehicles Total
$'000 $’000 $'000
Company
Cost
At 1 April 2015 1,841 500 2,341
Additions 16 - 16
Disposals - (500) (500)
Write-offs (@A) - 21n
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 1,836 - 1,836
Additions 49 - 49
Disposals (61) - (61)
At 31 March 2017 1,824 - 1,824
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2015 1,778 458 2,236
Charge for 2016 21 33 54
Disposals - (491) (491)
Write-offs (2n - 21n
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 1,778 - 1,778
Charge for 2017 34 - 34
Disposals (61) - (61)
At 31 March 2017 1,751 - 1,751
Net book value
At 31 March 2016 58 - 58
At 31 March 2017 73 - 73
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Balance sheet:
Balance at 1 April 106,653 168,948
Disposal - (55,803)
Adjustments to fair value 832 (813)
Foreign exchange adjustments (3,062) (5,679)
Balance at 31 March 104,423 106,653
Consolidated income statement:
Rental and related service income from investment properties 4 6,513 8,500
Direct operating expenses (including repairs, maintenance and
refurbishment) arising from rental generating properties (1,062) (1,739)

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
gl {OLDINGS B

Annual Report 2017



‘panjeA buiaq santadoid sy jo A10H31ed pue uoed0| Y3 Ul DUSSAXS JUSIDI YUM SIaNnjeA uspuadapul
palipaidde Aq pawJoyiad aie suonen|ep ‘pouad builiodas ay3 JO pus 3y3 1 SUOIIBN|BA UO Paseq PaulWID1dp U3 SARY UYdIYM ‘SNnjeA Jjej 1e palels aJe sa11iadoid Juswissaul

*€€ 910N Ul paso|dsip ale pasn sindul pue sanbiuydal uonen|ea Jo sjielaq

san4adoud yJuawsaaui jo uoipnipp

€59'001L €Tr'volL
eulyD Jo dijgnday
s,9]doad ‘leybueys
1211151g Uemn ‘peoy
poypw (Bululewsai sieak {G) BbueyH unys ‘gg| sue
uosiedwod 13a.1p pue paywi] buna £00Z |1dy 0z ‘Kousbay a||insveT ayL leybueys
6/t'9 ¥20"” uonesijeyded 133lQg 911 weyusgad z1d woJj ases| ,sieak 19 G 'ON ‘20/Z "ON 1el4 ‘Kousbay a|jinave
eulyd
Jo21|qnday s,9|doad
‘noyzbuenc) ‘peoy
buoq 1ys uenH buoje
poypw (Bululewai sieak /7) JaMO01 900 £21035-G€
uosiedwod 13a.1p pue paywi] buna ¥661 1990100 81 1 wnipod buiddoys
¥/1'001 66526 uonesijeuded 1331Qg 911 weyusgag z1d wolj ases| ,sieak 0g £31015-/ ® JO 1ied noyzbueno 1omo] 319
000.$ 000.$
9L0¢ £10C
anjea Jreq poyiaw uonenjep JanjeA jo awepN puej jo ainuaj uondunsag Buip|ing jo awepN

:SMOJ[0} Sk aJ1e ydJely | € 1e se sainiadoad Juawisanul sdnoio ay |

(d,LNOD) S31143d0Yd LNJWLSIANI

L

/107 YdJe\ | € Papua Jeak [e)pURUY 3Y) SO
Sjuowialels |eibueuld 9yl O} S9]ON

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

e O ()



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

13.

14.

SUBSIDIARIES
Company

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 21,828 21,828
Impairment losses (4,038) (4,038)
Carrying amount of investments 17,790 17,790
Details of subsidiaries are shown in Note 35.
AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Amounts due from subsidiaries 496,166 328,192
Impairment losses (2,927) (9,220)

493,239 318,972

Movement in impairment loss is as follows:
Balance at beginning of financial year 9,220 13,866
Write-back for the year (768) (4,646)
Write-off for the year (5,525) -
Balance at end of financial year 2,927 9,220

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, have no fixed terms of repayment and are interest free, except for
$4,140,000 (2016: $3,998,000) which bear interest ranging from 3.13% to 3.5% (2016: 2.77% to 3.11%) per annum.

These amounts due from subsidiaries are considered quasi-equity in nature.

In the current financial year, a reversal of impairment loss of $768,000 (2016: $4,646,000) was recognised in the
Company'’s income statement subsequent to a debt recovery assessment performed on amounts due from

subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017.
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15.

ASSOCIATES
Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Quoted equity shares, at cost 117,700 117,700 - -
Share of post-acquisition reserves 85,546 75,464 - -
Share of changes recognised directly in associates’ equity (39,371) (13,904) - -
Foreign currency translation reserve 16,171 10,700 - -
180,046 189,960 - -
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 114,730 107,984 500 500
Share of post-acquisition reserves 102,061 113,045 - -
Share of changes recognised directly in associates’ equity (10,054) (7,532) - -
Foreign currency translation reserve (13,241) (6,672) - -
193,496 206,825 500 500
373,542 396,785 500 500
Market value of quoted shares 101,131 131,539 - -

Details of the associates are shown in Note 35.

The Group’s share of associates’ results, adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest by the Group, is as

follows:
Group

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Operating results 22,506 115,941
Negative goodwill - 917
Fair value adjustments on investment properties 29,657 31,145
Taxation (9,564) (74,979)
Others (85) 2,636

42,514 75,660

Aggregate information about the Group's investment in associates that are not individually material are as follows:

Profit after tax 11,346 21,439
Other comprehensive income (2,811) (4,911)
Total comprehensive income 8,535 16,528
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15. ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

The summarised financial information in respect of material investments in associates, based on their FRS financial
statements (not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the Group), and reconciliation with the carrying

amount of the investments in the consolidated statements are as follows:

Top Spring International
Holdings Limited

Nanchang Top Spring
Real Estate Co., Ltd

2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Summatrised balance sheet
Current assets 3,364,069 4,461,351 446,559 701,850
Non-current assets 1,320,797 1,446,895 215,598 182,071
Total assets 4,684,866 5,908,246 662,157 883,921
Current bank and other borrowings (542,471) (1,151,056) - (52,250)
Other current liabilities (1,647,363)  (2,587,894) (188,740) (288,063)
Non-current bank and other borrowings
(excluding bonds/notes) (387,408) (511,330) (60,900) (68,970)
Other non-current liabilities (877,298) (387,266) (52,017) (47,199)
Total liabilities (3,454,540)  (4,637,546) (301,657) (456,482)
Net assets 1,230,326 1,270,700 360,500 427,439
Non-controlling interests (168,525) (187,402) - -
Net assets excluding non-controlling interests 1,061,801 1,083,298 360,500 427,439
Net assets excluding non-controlling interests 1,061,801 1,083,298 360,500 427,439
Proportion of the Group's ownership 16.1% 16.1% 30.0% 30.0%
Group's share of net assets 170,525 174,195 108,150 128,232
Other adjustments® 9,521 15,765 = =
Carrying amount of the investment 180,046 189,960 108,150 128,232

M Other adjustments comprise fair value adjustments to the assets of the associate at date of acquisition by the
Group, and the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that associate’s financial

statements’ date and the reporting date of the Group.

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue 1,000,572 1,830,426 252,642 730,345
Profit after tax 162,645 183,353 47,245 156,069
Other comprehensive income (178,058) (103,976) - -
Total comprehensive income (15,413) 79,377 47,245 156,069
Other summarised information

Dividends received/receivable 8,759 4,315 28,723 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

15.

16.
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ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“TSI")

The Group has a nominated representative on TSI's board. The Group has assessed that it has the ability to exercise
significant influence in TSI and accordingly, reclassified TSI from available-for-sale investments to associate, and to
equity account TSI's results. As at 31 March 2017, the Group has an effective indirect equity stake of approximately
19.3% voting rights and 16.1% ownership interest in TSI.

The financial statements of TSI are prepared as of 31 December 2016. TSI is a public company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Adjustments are made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Group. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES

Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Amounts due from associates
- Non-current (@) 134,108 70,266
Amount due to an associate (b) (67,457) (69,050)

(@) The non-current amounts due from associates are interest-free, except for $88,708,000 (2016: $20,053,000)
which bears interest ranging from 2.25% to 16.8% (2016: 2.5% to 15.8%) per annum, unsecured and are not
expected to be repaid within the next financial year. These amounts due from associates are considered quasi-
equity in nature.

(b) The amount due to an associate bears interest at 3.00% (2016: 2.75% to 3.00%) per annum, is unsecured and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due from/(to) associates denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March:

Amounts due from associates:

- Chinese renminbi 44,764 49,530
- Sterling pound 47,948 20,053
- United States dollar 40,760 -

Amount due to an associate:
- Chinese renminbi (67,457) (69,050)
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

17. JOINT VENTURES

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 36,768 36,768
Share of post-acquisition reserves 155,325 160,938
Foreign currency translation reserve 11,707 18,543
203,800 216,249

Details of the joint ventures are shown in Note 35.

The summarised financial information of the joint ventures, adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest by
the Group, is as follows:

Results:

Revenue 117,894 79,266
Direct expenses (80,118) (42,097)
Gross profit 37,776 37,169
Other income, including interest income 1,917 55,741
Fair value loss on investment properties (6,611) (4,252)
Negative goodwill = 2,270
General and administrative expenses (3,185) (3,248)
Profit from operating activities 29,897 87,680
Finance costs (245) )
Profit from operations before taxation 29,652 87,671
Taxation (7,377) (19,511)
Profit net of taxation 22,275 68,160

Aggregate information about the Group’s investment in joint ventures that are not individually material are as

follows:

(Loss)/profit after tax (90) 3,814
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income (90) 3,814
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

17. JOINTVENTURES (CONT’D)

The summarised financial information in respect of material investments in joint ventures, based on their FRS
financial statements (not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the Group), and reconciliation with the
carrying amount of the investments in the consolidated statements are as follows:

Shanghai Metro City

Commercial Shanghai Huimei Nordevo
Management Co. Ltd Property Co Ltd Investments Limited
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Summarised balance sheet
Current assets 77,466 80,804 27,351 28,195 309 7146
Non-current assets 209,860 223,126 194,798 200,257 - -
Total assets 287,326 303,930 222,149 228,452 309 7146
Current liabilities (75,622) (78,749) (22,928) (25,758) (76) (175)
Non-current liabilities (34,220) (36,191) (43,382) (44,073) - -
Total liabilities (109,842) (114,940) (66,310) (69,831) (76) (175)
Net assets 177,484 188,990 155,839 158,621 233 6,971
Net assets 177,484 188,990 155,839 158,621 233 6,971
Proportion of the Group's
ownership 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 50.0% 50.0%
Carrying amount of the investment 106,490 113,394 93,503 95,173 17 3,486
Summarised statement of
comprehensive income
Revenue 61,619 56,413 21,080 21,949 - -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - 107,494
Depreciation (90) (69) 43) (63) - -
Finance costs - - (139) (214) - -
Profit before tax 34,729 29,516 14,702 20,266 - 107,737
Taxation (8,686) (7,439) (3,609) (5,027) - (24,064)
Profit after tax 26,043 22,077 11,093 15,239 - 83,673
- Lease income 34,459 30,997 10,941 11,634 - -
- Fair value adjustments (8,416) (8,920) 152 3,605 - -
Other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income 26,043 22,077 11,093 15,239 - 83,673
Other summarised information
Dividends received 18,967 17,612 5,357 5,443 3,480 113,864
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18.

19.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Amounts due from joint ventures
- Non-current 178,874 128,972

The non-current amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, except for $25,520,000 (2016: $3,998,000)
which bear interest ranging from 3.13% to 10.53% (2016: 2.77% to 3.11%) per annum, unsecured and are not
expected to be repaid within the next financial year. These amounts due from joint ventures are considered quasi-
equity in nature.

In the previous financial year, an impairment loss of $9,472,000 was recognised in the Group’s income statement
subsequent to an assessment of the carrying amount of the non-current amount due from a joint venture. No such

impairment is required for this current financial year.

Amounts due from joint ventures denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March:

Sterling pound 21,380 -
United States dollar 4,284 4124
Chinese renminbi 65 20
INVESTMENTS
Group

2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Current:

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Held-for-trading investments
Shares (quoted) 42,208 33,919

Non-current:
Available-for-sale investments

Shares (unquoted), at fair value 71,526 24,265
Shares (quoted) 23,395 27,164
94,921 51,429
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

20. INVENTORIES

Group
Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Inventories held for resale (at cost or net realisable value) 19,298 19,174
Raw materials (at cost) 135 122
Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 19,433 19,296
Inventories are stated after deducting allowance for obsolete

inventories of 1,718 1,077
Balance at 1 April 1,077 1,170
Charged/(write-back) to the consolidated income statement 8 641 (93)
Balance at 31 March 1,718 1,077
Consolidated Income Statement:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 74,849 79,540
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales is inclusive

of the following charge:

- Inventories written down 8 471 1,080

- Allowance for/(write-back of) obsolete inventories 8 641 (93)

21. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current
Trade receivables 2,467 1,985 - -
Deposits 4,802 5,562 180 149
Other receivables
- Recoverables and sundry debtors 550 2,945 32 23
7,819 10,492 212 172

Non-current
Amounts due from subsidiaries 14 - - 493,239 318,972
Amounts due from associates 16 134,108 70,266 - -
Amounts due from joint ventures 18 178,874 128,972 - -
Total receivables

(current and non-current) 320,801 209,730 493,451 319,144
Add: Pledged fixed and bank

deposits 22 111,278 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 22 278,164 493,606 9,192 18,805

Total loans and receivables 710,243 703,336 502,643 337,949

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
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21. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
(@) Receivables that are impaired
As at 31 March 2017, the Group has trade receivables amounting to $49,000 (2016: $221,000) that

are past due at the end of the reporting period but not impaired.

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement
of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Individually impaired
Trade receivables - nominal amounts 33 31
Less: Allowance for impairment (33) (31
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
Balance at 1 April 31 79
Charged/(credited) to the income statement 2 (48)
Balance at 31 March 33 31

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period
relate to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

For assets to be classified as “past due” or “impaired”, contractual payments must be in arrears for
more than 90 days. No collateral is held as security for any past due or impaired assets.

(b) Current receivables denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March are as follows:
Group
2017 2016
$’000 $'000
Sterling pound 37 1,719
Chinese renminbi 964 1,213

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017 ] OS - =



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

22.

23.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits placed with financial institutions are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fixed deposits 323,110 441,149 5,540 14,609
Cash on hand and at bank 66,332 52,457 3,652 4,196
Total cash and bank balances 389,442 493,606 9,192 18,805
Less: Fixed bank deposits pledged as security (111,278) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 278,164 493,606 9,192 18,805

Fixed deposits are placed for varying periods of not more than six months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and bear interest ranging from 0.28% to 6.35% (2016:0.01% to 5.15%) per annum. Cash
on hand and at bank earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates at 0.35% (2016: 0.35%) per

annum.

Fixed deposits of $111,278,000 (2016: Nil) had been pledged to financial institutions as security for bank loans

(Note 23).

Cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March are as follows:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000
United States dollar 92,632 131,153 7 56
Chinese renminbi 137,159 143,121 - 1
Sterling pound 951 6,412 3 -
Japanese yen 1 2,852 1 -
BANK BORROWINGS
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Current
Bank revolving credit facilities, denominated in Sterling pound, secured 65,915 -
Maturity of bank borrowings
Repayable:
Within 1 year 65,915 -

The revolving credit loans are denominated in Sterling pound and bear interest at rates ranging from 1.3% to 1.8%
per annum. These bank loans are secured by charges over fixed deposits of $111,278,000 (Note 22).
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24. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
Note 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial liabilities
Current
Trade payables 18,654 16,861 - -
Other payables
- Sundry creditors 7,538 9,843 920 773
- Accruals 11,623 23,954 4,760 15,170
- Refundable deposits 1,826 2,025 - -
39,641 52,683 5,680 15,943
Amount due to an associate 16 67,457 69,050 - -
Non-current
Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 244,226 46,065
Total accounts and other payables
(current and non-current) 107,098 121,733 249,906 62,008
Add: Total bank borrowings 23 65,915 - - -
Total financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost 173,013 121,733 249,906 62,008
Non-financial liability
Non-current
Deferred income 13,352 12,010 - -

Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms.

Other payables

The amounts due to subsidiaries (non-current) are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment. These are expected to be settled in cash.

Current payables denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 March are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Chinese renminbi 2,400 2,595
Japanese yen - 1,198
Sterling pound 87 463
United States dollar 47 158
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25.

26.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
(@) Share capital

Group and Company

2017 2016
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
Balance at beginning and end of the
financial year 831,549 169,717 831,549 169,717

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by
the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have no par
value.

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company

2017 2016
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
Balance at beginning and end of the
financial year 3,513 1,768 3,513 1,768

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.

RESERVES
Group Company

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue reserve 1,221,734 1,192,461 103,071 126,264
Foreign currency translation reserve (@) (50,177) (8,144) - -
Statutory reserve (b) 3,880 10,144 - -
Fair value reserve (@) 3,366 12,555 - -
Other reserve (d) 1,474 682 - -
1,180,277 1,207,698 103,071 126,264

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the
Group's presentation currency.
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26.

27.

28.

RESERVES (CONT’D)

(b) Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents the fund set aside on the appropriation of net profit by a subsidiary, joint ventures
and an associate, which is restricted in use as required by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s

Republic of China.

(c) Fair value reserve

Fair value reserve records the cumulative fair value changes net of tax, of available-for-sale assets until they are

de-recognised or impaired.

(d) Otherreserve

Other reserve comprises the share of other reserves of associates.

DIVIDENDS
Group and Company
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Dividends paid during the financial year:
Final exempt (one-tier) dividend of 2.0 cents per ordinary share for 2016
(2015: 2.0 cents) 16,561 16,561
Final special exempt (one-tier) dividend of 5.0 cents per ordinary share for 2016
(2015: 4.0 cents) 41,402 33,121
57,963 49,682
Dividends proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 March:
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting:
Final exempt (one-tier) dividend of 2.0 cents (2016: 2.0 cents) per ordinary share 16,561 16,561
Final special exempt (one-tier) dividend of 3.0 cents (2016: 5.0 cents) per
ordinary share 24,841 41,402
41,402 57,963

COMMITMENTS

(i) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial

statements are as follows:

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Capital commitments in respect of investment in:
- Available-for-sale investments 435 907
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29.
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COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)
(i) Operating lease commitments

(@) Aslessee

Operating lease expenses for the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to

$23,375,000 (2016: $29,035,000).

The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable lease arrangements which do not have any
purchase options and expire at various dates till 2019. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision
of the rental charge on a periodic basis, based on prevailing market conditions. The future minimum

rentals under these non-cancellable leases are:

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Not later than one year 18,596 19,400
Later than one year but not later than five years 42,393 30,130
Later than five years - -
60,989 49,530

(b) Aslessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its property portfolio. These non-cancellable
leases have remaining lease terms of between 1 and 10 years. Certain leases include a clause to enable
upward revision of the rental charge on a periodic basis based on prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March are as

follows:
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Not later than one year 6,038 5,055
Later than one year but not later than five years 10,968 8,024
Later than five years 1,917 2,903
18,923 15,982
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Company
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Financial support given to certain subsidiaries having:
- deficiencies in shareholders’ funds 88,322 95,971
- current liabilities in excess of current assets 39,820 49,718

The Company has provided corporate guarantees to a bank for loans of $65,915,000 (2016: $Nil) taken by its

subsidiaries.
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30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the significant
transactions between the Group and related parties on terms agreed between the parties are as follows:

(a) Services and other fees

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Interest income from associates (6,341) (2,885)
Interest expense paid to an associate 2,063 2,770
Management fee received from an associate (910) (938)
Corporate advisory fee paid to a company that is controlled by a Director 120 120
(b) Compensation of key management personnel
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Salary, bonus and other benefits 6,050 17,495
Contributions to CPF 63 62
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,113 17,557
Comprise amounts paid to:
Directors of the Company 3,01 12,326
Other key management personnel 3,102 5,231
6,113 17,557

31. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) The property sector is involved in the leasing of shopping and office spaces owned by the Group and investing
in property-related investments.

(i) The retail segment is involved in the business of retailing and operating of departmental stores.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating
segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating
profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating
profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with
third parties.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 20171 ] 1 _— =



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

31.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Business segments

Property Retail Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Segment revenue 6,513 124,711 131,224
Segment results 19,990 (2,022) 17,968
Changes in fair value of short term investments (771) - (777)
Fair value gain on investment properties 832 - 832
Finance costs (277) - (277)
Share of associates’ results, net of tax 39,192 3,322 42,514
Share of joint ventures’ results, net of tax 22,275 - 22,275
Segment profit before taxation 81,241 1,300 82,541
Taxation (1,522) - (1,522)
Profit for the year 79,719 1,300 81,019
2016
Segment revenue 8,500 146,095 154,595
Segment results (1,630) (2,383) (4,013)
Changes in fair value of short term investments (6,633) - (6,633)
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture (9,472) - (9,472)
Fair value loss on investment properties (813) - (813)
Finance costs (557) - (557)
Share of associates’ results, net of tax 73,133 2,527 75,660
Share of joint ventures’ results, net of tax 68,160 - 68,160
Segment profit before taxation 122,188 144 122,332
Taxation (9,040) - (9,040)
Profit for the year 113,148 144 113,292
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31.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Business segments (cont'd)

Property Retail Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

2017
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 611,403 52,978 664,381
Investment in associates 495,053 12,597 507,650
Investment in joint ventures 382,674 - 382,674
Deferred tax assets - 1,102 1,102
Tax recoverable 250 - 250
Total assets 1,489,380 66,677 1,556,057
Segment liabilities 155,538 30,827 186,365
Provision for taxation 1,010 1,224 2,234
Deferred tax liabilities 16,759 - 16,759
Total liabilities 173,307 32,051 205,358
Other segment information
Additions to non-current assets
- Plant and equipment 51 1,922 1,973
Interest expense 277 - 277
Interest income (10,999) (130) (11,129)
Depreciation of plant and equipment 37 1,690 1,727
Other material non-cash items
Inventories written down - 471 471
Fair value loss on held-for-trading investments (unrealised) 771 - 771
Fair value gain on investment properties (832) - (832)
Allowance for obsolete inventories - 641 641
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Business segments (cont'd)

Property Retail Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

2016
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 666,449 54,539 720,988
Investment in associates 456,983 10,068 467,051
Investment in joint ventures 345,221 - 345,221
Deferred tax assets - 1,441 1,441
Tax recoverable 267 - 267
Total assets 1,468,920 66,048 1,534,968
Segment liabilities 102,231 31,512 133,743
Provision for taxation 3,589 1,224 4,813
Deferred tax liabilities 16,920 - 16,920
Total liabilities 122,740 32,736 155,476
Other segment information
Additions to non-current assets
- Plant and equipment 16 1,776 1,792
Interest expense 557 - 557
Interest income (11,287) (186) (11,473)
Depreciation of plant and equipment 82 2,592 2,674
Other material non-cash items
Inventories written down - 1,080 1,080
Fair value loss on held-for-trading investments (unrealised) 6,633 - 6,633
Fair value loss on investment properties 813 - 813
Write-back of obsolete inventories - (93) (93)
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture 9,472 - 9,472
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31.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Geographical information

Revenue, (loss)/profit from operations before taxation and non-current assets information based on the
geographical location of the customers and assets respectively, are as follows:

People’s
Republic of
Asean China Japan Others Group
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Segment revenue from external
customers 124,711 6,513 - - 131,224
Profit from operations before
taxation 6,460 66,567 1,599 7915 82,541
Non-current assets
- Plant and equipment 5,053 9 - - 5,062
- Investment properties - 104,423 - - 104,423
- Investment in associates 13,822 429,827 - 64,001 507,650
- Investment in joint ventures 153,164 204,459 - 25,051 382,674
- Available-for-sale investments - 23,395 - 71,526 94,921
172,039 762,113 - 160,578 1,094,730
2016
Segment revenue from external
customers 146,095 7,378 1,122 - 154,595
(Loss)/profit from operations
before taxation (17,386) 134,581 2,990 2,147 122,332
Non-current assets
- Plant and equipment 4,862 10 - - 4,872
- Investment properties - 106,653 - - 106,653
- Investment in associates 11,971 419,556 - 35,524 467,051
- Investment in joint ventures 124,847 216,196 - 4,178 345,221
- Available-for-sale investments - 27164 - 24,265 51,429
141,680 769,579 - 63,967 975,226
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to interest rate, foreign currency, credit, liquidity and market price risks. The Group's risk
management approach seeks to minimise the potential material adverse impact of these exposures.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company'’s
exposure to interest rate risk on interest bearing assets arises primarily from their bank borrowings and
interest-bearing loans given to related parties. The Group’s loans at floating rate given to related parties form
a natural hedge for its non-current floating rate bank loans.

All of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and liabilities at floating rates are contractually repriced at
intervals of 1 to 3 months (2016: 1 to 3 months) from the end of the reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the
Group's floating rate loans and borrowings, with all other variables held constant and the impact on the
Group's profit before tax.

Increase/
decreasein 2017 2016
basis points $'000 $'000
Group
- Sterling pound (GBP) +100 (659) -
- Sterling pound (GBP) -100 659 -

G

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, primarily in relation to
Chinese renminbi (RMB), United States dollar (USD), Hong Kong dollar (HKD) and Sterling pound (GBP).
Whenever possible, the Group seeks to maintain a natural hedge through the matching of liabilities, including
borrowings, against assets in the same currency or against the entity’s functional currency, in particular its
future revenue stream. Transactional exposures in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are
kept to a minimal level.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the RMB, USD, HKD and
GBP exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s profit before tax and
equity.
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32.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

2017 2016
Profit Profit
before tax Equity before tax Equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
RMB - strengthened 5% (2016: 5%) 3,413 2,241 3,634 2,477
- weakened 5% (2016: 5%) (3,413) (2,247) (3,634) (2,477)
USD - strengthened 5% (2016: 5%) 4,640 4,552 6,549 1,419
- weakened 5% (2016: 5%) (4,640) (4,552) (6,549) (1,419)
HKD - strengthened 5% (2016: 5%) - 1,170 (1 1,358
- weakened 5% (2016: 5%) - (1,770) 1 (1,358)
GBP - strengthened 5% (2016: 5%) 1,014 478 385 1,003
- weakened 5% (2016: 5%) (1,014) (478) (385) (1,003)

Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default
on its obligations. The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred

due to increased credit risk exposure.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy to ensure that
credit customers are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an on-going basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. Collaterals are
obtained when appropriate. The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of
the counterparty. Sufficient rental deposits are obtained to mitigate against the credit risk from tenants.

The carrying amounts of investments, trade and other receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure

to credit risk. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(©)

Credit risk (cont'd)
Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of
its financial assets on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s financial assets at
the end of the reporting period by country is as follows:

People’s
Republic of
Singapore China Others Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
By country:
At 31 March 2017
Loans and receivables
Amounts due from associates (Note 16) - 85,524 48,584 134,108
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note 18) 153,145 4,349 21,380 178,874
Accounts and other receivables (Note 21) 6,784 1,035 - 7,819
Total 159,929 90,908 69,964 320,801
At 31 March 2016
Loans and receivables
Amounts due from associates (Note 16) - 49,530 20,736 70,266
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note 18) 124,828 4,144 - 128,972
Accounts and other receivables (Note 21) 7,075 1,659 1,758 10,492
Total 131,903 55,333 22,494 209,730

Of the total financial assets of $320,801,000 (2016: $209,730,000) disclosed above, 97.8% (2016: 96.5%) is
invested in the property sector.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with good
payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents and investments that are neither past due nor
impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with no history of
default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 21.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily
from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective
is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit
facilities.

The Group’s cash and short term deposits, operating cash flows, availability of banking facilities and debt
maturity profile are actively managed to ensure adequate working capital requirements and that repayment
and funding needs are met.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’'D)
(d) Liquidity risk (cont’d)
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

1 year or 1to5 Over5
less years years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
2017
Financial assets:
Accounts and other receivables 7,819 - - 7,819
Amounts due from associates 10,117 135,545 10,422 156,084
Amounts due from joint ventures 1,365 181,860 - 183,225
Held-for-trading financial assets 42,208 - - 42,208
Pledged fixed bank deposits 111,531 - - 111,531
Cash and cash equivalents 278,476 - - 278,476
Total undiscounted financial assets 451,516 317,405 10,422 779,343
Financial liabilities:
Bank borrowings 65,994 - - 65,994
Accounts and other payables 39,641 - - 39,641
Amount due to an associate 67,457 - - 67,457
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 173,092 - - 173,092
Total net undiscounted financial assets 278,424 317,405 10,422 606,251
2016
Financial assets:
Accounts and other receivables 10,492 - - 10,492
Amounts due from associates 738 68,534 11,671 80,943
Amounts due from joint ventures 128 129,484 - 129,612
Held-for-trading financial assets 33,919 - - 33,919
Cash and cash equivalents 494,490 - - 494,490
Total undiscounted financial assets 539,767 198,018 11,671 749,456
Financial liabilities:
Accounts and other payables 52,683 - - 52,683
Amount due to an associate 69,050 - - 69,050
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 121,733 - - 121,733
Total net undiscounted financial assets 418,034 198,018 11,671 627,723
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’'D)
(d) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (cont'd)

1 year Over5
orless years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Company
2017
Financial assets:
Accounts and other receivables 212 - 212
Amounts due from subsidiaries - 493,239 493,239
Cash and cash equivalents 9,198 - 9,198
Total undiscounted financial assets 9,410 493,239 502,649
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 5,680 - 5,680
Amounts due to subsidiaries - 244,226 244,226
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 5,680 244,226 249,906
Total net undiscounted financial assets 3,730 249,013 252,743
2016
Financial assets:
Accounts and other receivables 172 - 172
Amounts due from subsidiaries 128 319,484 319,612
Cash and cash equivalents 18,805 - 18,805
Total undiscounted financial assets 19,105 319,484 338,589
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 15,943 - 15,943
Amounts due to subsidiaries - 46,065 46,065
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 15,943 46,065 62,008
Total net undiscounted financial assets 3,162 273,419 276,581

(e) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). The Group is exposed
to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. These instruments are mainly
quoted on the Singapore Stock Exchange and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and are classified as held-
for-trading or available-for-sale financial assets. The Group does not have exposure to commodity price risk.
The Group's objective is to manage investment returns and equity price risk using a mix of investment grade
shares with steady dividend yield and non-investment grade shares.

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(e) Market price risk (cont'd)

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Straits Times Index
(STI) and Hang Seng Index (HSI), with all other variables held constant, on the fair value of equity instruments
held by the Group. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact
on equity price risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, variables had to be changed

on an individual basis.

2017 2016
Profit Profit
before tax Equity before tax Equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
HSI
- 10% higher - 2,340 - 2,716
- 10% lower - (2,340) - (2,716)
STI
- 10% higher 4,221 - 3,392 -
- 10% lower (4,221) - (3,392) -

33. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) Fair value hierarchies

The Group categories fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation

inputs used as follows:

+  Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can

access at the measurement date,

«  Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly, and

«  Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.
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33. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)
(b) Assets measured at fair value

The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets measured at fair value at the end of the reporting

period:
2017
Fair value measurements at the end of the
reporting period using
Quoted Significant
prices observable
in active inputs
markets for  other than Significant
identical quoted  unobservable
instruments prices inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets:
Held-for-trading financial assets
(Note 19)
- Quoted equity instruments 42,208 - - 42,208
Available-for-sale financial assets
(Note 19)
Equity instruments
- Quoted equity instruments 23,395 - - 23,395
- Unquoted equity instruments - - 71,526 71,526
Total available-for-sale financial assets 23,395 - 71,526 94,921
Financial assets as at 31 March 2017 65,603 - 71,526 137,129
Non-financial asset:
Investment properties (Note 12) - - 104,423 104,423
Non-financial asset as at 31 March 2017 - - 104,423 104,423
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33.

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(b) Assets measured at fair value (cont’d)

()

Fair value measurements at the end of the

2016

reporting period using

Quoted Significant
prices observable
in active inputs
markets for other than Significant
identical quoted unobservable
instruments prices inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets:
Held-for-trading financial assets
(Note 19)
- Quoted equity instruments 33,919 - - 33,919
Available-for-sale financial assets
(Note 19)
Equity instruments
- Quoted equity instruments 27164 - - 27164
- Unquoted equity instruments - - 24,265 24,265
Total available-for-sale financial assets 27164 - 24,265 51,429
Financial assets as at 31 March 2016 61,083 - 24,265 85,348
Non-financial asset:
Investment properties (Note 12) - - 106,653 106,653
Non-financial asset as at 31 March 2016 - - 106,653 106,653

There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during 2017 and 2016.

Level 1 fair value measurements

The fair value of quoted equity instruments are determined directly by reference to their published market bid

price at the end of the reporting date.
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33. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)
(d) Level 3 fair value measurements

(i) Information about significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable

—— | )/

inputs (Level 3):

Key
Fair Value at Valuation unobservable
Description 31 March 2017 techniques inputs Range
$'000
Recurring fair value
measurements
Available-for-sale financial assets:
- Unquoted equity instruments 71,526 Net asset Not applicable  Not applicable
value®
Investment properties 104,423 Average - Capitalisation  1.75% to 7.50%
of direct rate®
capitalisation
method
and direct - Rentalrate®  RMB 110 to
comparison RMB 271 per
method®? square meter
per month
- Comparable  RMB 16,726 to
price® RMB 300,000
per square
meter
Key
Fair Value at Valuation unobservable
Description 31 March 2016 techniques inputs Range
$'000
Recurring fair value
measurements
Available-for-sale financial assets:
- Unquoted equity instruments 24,265 Net asset Not applicable  Not applicable
value®
Investment properties 106,653 Average - Capitalisation  1.75% to 9.00%
of direct rate®
capitalisation
method - Rentalrate®  RMB 114 to
and direct RMB 240 per
comparison square meter
method®@ per month
- Comparable RMB 17,651 to
price® RMB 300,000
per square
meter
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33.

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(d)

Level 3 fair value measurements (cont’d)

(i) Information about significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements (cont'd)

M

@

®3)

(4)

(5)

The fair value of unquoted equity instruments is determined by reference to the underlying
assets value of the investee company.

The yield adjustments are made for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific property.

An increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate would result in a (decrease)/increase in the fair
value of the investment properties.

An increase/(decrease) in the rental rate would result in an increase/(decrease) in the fair value of
the investment properties.

An increase/(decrease) in the comparable price would result in an increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

The valuations of the investment properties are generally sensitive to changes in yield and rental
rates. A significant increase/decrease in yield and rental adjustments based on management’s
assumptions would result in a significantly higher/lower fair value measurement.

(i) Movements in Level 3 assets measured at fair value

Thefollowing table presents the reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value based on significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

2017
Available-
for-sale
financial
assets
(Unquoted
equity Investment
instruments) properties Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Opening balance 24,265 106,653 130,918
Total gains or losses for the period
- Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss - 832 832
- Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive
income (5,170) - (5,170)
Additions 56,393 - 56,393
Redemptions (4,485) - (4,485)
Foreign exchange differences 523 (3,062) (2,539)
Closing balance 71,526 104,423 175,949
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33. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)
(d) Level 3 fair value measurements

(ii) Movements in Level 3 assets measured at fair value (cont’d)

2016
Available-
for-sale
financial
assets
(Unquoted
equity Investment
instruments) properties Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Opening balance 21,951 168,948 190,899
Total gains or losses for the period
- Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss - (813) (813)
- Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive
income 3,082 - 3,082
Disposals - (55,803) (55,803)
Redemptions (457) - (457)
Foreign exchange differences (311) (5,679) (5,990)
Closing balance 24,265 106,653 130,918

(iii) Valuation policies and procedures

Itis the Group's policy to engage external valuation experts to perform the valuation. The management is
responsible for selecting and engaging valuation experts that possess the relevant credentials and
knowledge on the subject of valuation, valuation methodologies, and FRS 113 fair value measurement
guidance.

Management reviews the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and assumptions adopted,
and the reliability of the inputs used in the valuations.
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2017

33.

34.

35.

— | )&

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(e) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value (cont’d)

(i) The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures have no repayment terms and are
repayable only when the cash flows of the borrower permits. Accordingly, the fair values of these balances
are not determinable as the timing of the future cash flows arising from the balances cannot be estimated
reliably.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain
new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the financial years ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017.

As disclosed in Note 26(b), a subsidiary, joint ventures and an associate of the Group are required by the Foreign
Enterprise Law of the PRC to contribute to and maintain non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation
is subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has been
complied with by the above-mentioned subsidiary, joint ventures and the associate for the financial years ended
31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-equity ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners
of the Company less the above-mentioned restricted statutory reserve fund and the fair value reserve.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Investments in the unquoted equity interests in subsidiaries at cost at 31 March are:

Group

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Name of company
Metro (Private) Limited 8,914 8,914
Orchard Square Development Corporation Pte Ltd 7,576 7,576
Metrobilt Pte Ltd 4,038 4,038
Metro Australia Holdings Pte Ltd 1,000 1,000
Meren Pte Ltd 300 300
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd 59 i
Sun Capital Assets Pte Ltd i3 i
Metro Holdings (Japan) Pte Ltd 9 *
Metro Development Holdings (S) Pte Ltd 5 x
21,828 21,828

* Cost is less than $1,000
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35.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

Details of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures at 31 March are:

Subsidiaries
(Country of incorporation)

Place of business

Percentage of equity
held by the Group

2017
%

2016
%

Held by the Company

Retailers and department store operators
Metro (Private) Limited
(Singapore)

Property
Orchard Square Development Corporation Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Investment holding
Metrobilt Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Metro Australia Holdings Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Sun Capital Assets Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Metro Holdings (Japan) Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Metro Development Holdings (S) Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Investment trading
Meren Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Held by subsidiaries

Retailers and department store operators
The Marketing Co Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Property

Guangzhou International Electronics
Building Co Ltd

(People’s Republic of China)

Zensei Tokutei Mokuteki Kaisha
(Japan)

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

People’s Republic of

China

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

People’s Republic of
China

Japan

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0
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35. SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

Subsidiaries (cont’d)
(Country of incorporation)

Place of business

Percentage of equity

held by the Group

2017 2016
% %
Held by subsidiaries (cont’d)
Investment holding
Metro Xinjiang Investments Pte Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Singapore) China
Metro Properties (Shanghai) Pte Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Singapore) China
Metro Leisure (Shanghai) Pte Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Singapore) China
Metro Shanghai (HQ) Pte Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Singapore) China
+ Metrobilt South China Ltd Hong Kong 100.0 100.0
(Hong Kong)
+ Metrobilt Enterprise Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Hong Kong) China
+ MetroProp (China) People’s Republic of 94.0 94.0
(Mauritius) China
Metro City (Beijing) Pte Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Singapore) China
+ Crown Investments Ltd People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(Mauritius) China
Q Firewave Management Limited People’s Republic of 100.0 100.0
(British Virgin Islands) China
@ Metro Prop Japan Pte Ltd Singapore 100.0 100.0
(Singapore)
M Kowa Property Pte Ltd Singapore 100.0 100.0
(Singapore)
@ Bunkyo Property Pte Ltd Japan 100.0 100.0
(Singapore)
Metro Prop Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100.0 100.0

(Singapore)
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35. SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

Subsidiaries (cont’d) Percentage of equity
(Country of incorporation) Place of business held by the Group

2017 2016

% %

Held by subsidiaries (cont’d)

Management service consultants

Metrobilt Construction Pte Ltd Singapore 100.0 100.0

(Singapore)

Zensei Leasing GK Japan - 100.0

(Japan)

Dormant companies

Idea Shoppe Pte Ltd Singapore 100.0 100.0

(Singapore)

Metro Factory Outlet (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia - 100.0

(Malaysia)

Associates Percentage of equity

(Country of incorporation) Place of business held by the Group
2017 2016

% %

Retailers and department store operators

+A  PT Metropolitan Retailmart Indonesia 50.0 50.0
(Indonesia)
Property

&  Etika Cekap Sdn Bhd Malaysia 49.0 49.0
(Malaysia)

&  Gurney Plaza Sdn Bhd Malaysia 49.0 49.0
(Malaysia)

*  Nanchang Top Spring Real Estate Co., Ltd People’s Republic of 30.0 30.0
(People’s Republic of China) China
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SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

Associates (cont’d)
(Country of incorporation)

Place of business

Percentage of equity

held by the Group

2017 2016
% %

Investment holding
Gurney Investments Pte Ltd Singapore 50.0 50.0
(Singapore)
Diamond Wind Company Limited People’s Republic of 214 21.4
(British Virgin Islands) China
Choice Bright Holdings Limited People’s Republic of 21.4 214
(British Virgin Islands) China
Barlo Development Company Limited People’s Republic of - 333
(British Virgin Islands) China
Shine Rise International Limited People’s Republic of 30.0 30.0
(British Virgin Islands) China
Top Spring International Holdings Limited People’s Republic of 16.1 16.1
(Cayman Islands) China
Fairbriar Real Estate Limited United Kingdom 25.0 25.0
(England and Wales)
InfraRed NF China Real Estate Fund Il (A), L.P. People’s Republic of 23.7 23.7

(Guernsey)

South Bright Investments Limited
(British Virgin Islands)

Joint ventures
(Country of incorporation)

China

People’s Republic of
China

Place of business

48.0 -

Percentage of equity

held by the Group

2017 2016
% %

Property
Wingcrown Investment Pte. Ltd. Singapore 40.0 40.0
(Singapore)
Shanghai Metro City Commercial Management Co. Ltd People’s Republic of 60.0 60.0
(formerly known as Shanghai Metro City Cultural and China
Entertainment Co Ltd)
(People’s Republic of China)
Shanghai Huimei Property Co Ltd People’s Republic of 60.0 60.0
(People’s Republic of China) China
Nordevo Investments Limited People’s Republic of 50.0 50.0
(British Virgin Islands) China
Scarborough DC Limited United Kingdom 50.0 50.0

(England and Wales)
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35. SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

@ The Group has not accounted for its interests in Shanghai Metro City Commercial Management Co. Ltd.
and Shanghai Huimei Property Co Ltd as subsidiaries although its interests is in excess of 50% because
under the joint venture agreements, the joint venture parties are entitled to a share of the profits of the
joint ventures in proportion to their respective capital contributions but have contractual joint control of
the joint ventures and require unanimous consent for all major decisions over the relevant activities.

A The Group has equity accounted for its interest in PT Metropolitan Retailmart and Gurney Investments
Pte Ltd as associates in view of the fact that the Group does not have control of the entities but only

significant influence over the entities.

a Commenced liquidation during the financial year.

& Commenced liquidation after the financial year.

8 Incorporated during the financial year.

Q Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation. These foreign subsidiaries are not considered
significant as defined under Clause 718 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited.

All companies are audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore except for the following:

+ Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries.
* Audited for purpose of Group consolidation by member firms of Ernst & Young Global.
& Audited by other firms. These subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are not considered significant as

defined under Clause 718 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

# This significant foreign incorporated associate is audited by other firm which is considered a suitable
auditing firm as it is one of the big four audit firms.

36. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

Thefinancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 were authorised forissue in accordance with a resolution
of the directors on 21 June 2017.
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Statistics of Shareholdings

As at 2 June 2017

Number of issued and paid up shares (excluding treasury shares)
Amount of issued and paid up shares
Class of shares

Voting rights

Treasury shares

Subsidiary holdings

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

: 828,035,874

: 5$165,464,900
: Ordinary shares
: 1 vote per share
: 3,512,800

. Nil

No. Shareholder’s Name No. of Shares Held %
1 ENG KUAN COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED 133,555,636 16.13
2 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 129,765,817 15.67
3 NGEE ANN DEVELOPMENT PTE LTD 82,995,056 10.02
4 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED 55,501,388 6.70
5 LEROY SINGAPORE PTE LTD 47,758,905 5.77
6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 26,605,454 3.21
7 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 20,505,583 2.48
8 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 18,374,721 2.22
9 BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES 15,998,800 1.93
10 LEE YUEN SHIH 10,578,200 1.28
n UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 8,845,738 1.07
12 HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 8,643,584 1.04
13 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,290,513 1.00
14 MORPH INVESTMENTS LTD 8,060,600 0.97
15 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 7,523,133 0.91
16 SHAW VEE KING 6,581,500 0.79
17 MONCONCEPT INVESTMENTS PTE LTD 5,722,512 0.69
18  TEO CHENG TUAN DONALD 5,000,000 0.60
19  COMO HOLDINGS INC 4,804,800 0.58
20  CITY DEVELOPMENTS REALTY LIMITED 4,608,000 0.56
TOTAL 609,719,940 73.62
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1-99 104 1.86 3,487 0.00
100 - 1,000 390 6.97 219,941 0.03
1,001 - 10,000 2,285 40.84 13,851,482 1.67
10,001 - 1,000,000 2,773 49.56 154,169,890 18.62
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 43 0.77 659,791,074 79.68
TOTAL 5,595 100.00 828,035,874 100.00

Note: Percentage is computed based on 828,035,874 issued shares (excluding 3,512,800 shares held as treasury shares)

—— 3/

asat 2 June 2017.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 2 June 2017
No. of Shares No. of Shares

Direct Interest % ® Deemed Interest % ©
Eng Kuan Company Private Limited 133,555,636 16.129 55,439,999 M 6.695
Dynamic Holdings Pte Ltd = = 48,293,203 @ 5.832
Leroy Singapore Pte Ltd 47,758,905 5.768 - -
Ong Jen Yaw 70,540 0.009 215,503,049 @ 26.026
Ong Ling Ling 75,360 0.009 237,288,838 @ 28.657
Ong Ching Ping 63,360 0.008 237,288,838 ¥ 28.657
Ong Jenn 63,360 0.008 285,047,743 © 34.425
Ong Sek Hian (Wang ShiXian) 63,360 0.008 285,047,743 ® 34.425
Ngee Ann Development Pte Ltd 82,995,056 10.023 - -
Ngee Ann Kongsi - - 82,995,056 © 10.023
Takashimaya Company Limited - - 82,995,056 10.023

Notes:

0] Eng Kuan Company Private Limited (“Eng Kuan”)'s deemed interest is held through Maybank Nominees (Singapore)
Private Limited.

) Dynamic Holdings Pte Ltd (“Dynamic”)’s deemed interest is held through Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

3) MrOngJenYaw’s deemed interestis held through Eng Kuan (188,995,635 shares) and Citibank Nominees Singapore
Pte Ltd (26,507,414 shares). Mr Ong Jen Yaw is deemed to be interested in the shares through his interest in Eng
Kuan.

(4 Ms Ong Ling Ling's and Ms Ong Ching Ping’s deemed interests are each held through their respective interests in
Dynamic and Eng Kuan.

(5) Mr Ong Jenn’s and Mr Ong Sek Hian (Wang ShiXian)'s deemed interests are each held through their respective
interests in Dynamic, Eng Kuan and Leroy Singapore Pte Ltd.

(6) Ngee Ann Kongsi is deemed to be interested in the shares through its interest in Ngee Ann Development Pte Ltd.

?) Takashimaya Company Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares through its interest in Ngee Ann
Development Pte Ltd.

(8) “%" is based on 828,035,874 issued shares (excluding treasury shares).

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS IN PUBLIC HANDS

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, the percentage of shareholding held in the hands of public as at 2 June
2017 is approximately 49.01% of the total issued shares, excluding treasury shares. Therefore, the Company complies
with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual.

TREASURY SHARES AND SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS

As at 2 June 2017, the number of treasury shares held is 3,512,800 representing 0.42% of the total number of issued
shares excluding treasury shares. The Company does not have any subsidiary holdings.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting and
Notice of Books Closure Date

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Mandarin
Ballroom | & lI, Level 6, Main Tower, Mandarin Orchard Singapore by Meritus, 333 Orchard Road, Singapore 238867 on
17 July 2017 at 11.00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Toreceive and adopt the Directors’ Statement, Auditor’s Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2017. (Resolution 1)

2.  To declare the payment of a first and final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 2 cents per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2017. (Resolution 2)

3.  Todeclare the payment of a special tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 3 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2017. (Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Mr Tan Soo Khoon, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 94 of the Company’s Constitution. [refer to
explanatory note (a)] (Resolution 4)

5. To re-elect Mrs Fang Ai Lian, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 94 of the Company’s Constitution. [refer to
explanatory note (b)] (Resolution 5)

6. Toapprove the Directors'Fees of $756,833 (2016: $670,361) for the year ended 31 March 2017. (Resolution 6)

7.  Tore-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s Auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration.
(Resolution 7)

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

8. ShareIssue Mandate
That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:
(a) (i) issue shares of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require
shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to)
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

atany time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may
in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) (as calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis
to shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted
pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares
and subsidiary holdings) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

— METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notice of Books Closure Date

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under
sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) shall be
based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at the time this
Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or
vesting of share awards which are outstanding at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares,

and, in sub-paragraph (1) above and this sub-paragraph (2), “subsidiary holdings” has the meaning given to it
in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited;

w
Ao

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of
the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force (unless such
compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) and the Constitution for the
time being of the Company; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. [refer to

explanatory note (c)] (Resolution 8)

9. Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate
That:

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the“Companies Act”),
the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire
ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined),
at such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as
hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchase(s) on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST") and/or any other
stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted (“Other Exchange”);
and/or

(i) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, Other Exchange)

in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as
they consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act,

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST or, as the
case may be, Other Exchange as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and
approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of the
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from time
to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the

earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held;

(ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held; and
(iii) the date on which purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are

carried out to the full extent mandated;

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(c) in this Resolution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares over the last five market
days on which the Shares were transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, Other Exchange, before the date
of the market purchase by the Company, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the listing rules of the
SGX-ST for any corporate action which occurs after the relevant five-day period;

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company makes an offer for the purchase or
acquisition of Shares from shareholders, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more than the
Maximum Price) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the off-market
purchase;

“Maximum Limit” means that number of Shares representing 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings (as defined in the
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST));

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price (excluding
brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) which shall not exceed:

(i) in the case of a market purchase of a Share, 5% above the Average Closing Price; and
(ii) in the case of an off-market purchase of a Share pursuant to an equal access scheme, the NTAV of a
Share; and

“NTAV of a Share” means the net tangible asset value of a Share taken from the latest announced consolidated
financial statements of the Company preceding the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the off-market
purchase; and

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider expedient
or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this Resolution. [refer to
explanatory note (d)] (Resolution 9)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on
27 July 2017 for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlements to the proposed first and final tax exempt (one-
tier) dividend of 2 cents per ordinary share and the special tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 3 cents per ordinary share
for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Proposed Dividends”).

Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services,
80 Robinson Road #11-02, Singapore 068898 up to 5.00 p.m. on 26 July 2017 will be registered before shareholders’
entitlements to the Proposed Dividends are determined.

Shareholders (being Depositors) whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with
shares as at 5.00 p.m. on 26 July 2017 will rank for the Proposed Dividends.

The Proposed Dividends, if approved at the Forty-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 17 July
2017, will be paid on 7 August 2017.

By Order of the Board

Tan Ching Chek and Lee Chin Yin
Joint Company Secretaries

30 June 2017

Singapore
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Explanatory Notes:

(@) Mr Tan Soo Khoon, if re-elected, will continue to serve as a member of the Audit and Investment Committees.
Mr Tan Soo Khoon is considered by the Board of Directors as an Independent Director. For more information on
Mr Tan Soo Khoon, please refer to the “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” sections in the Annual
Report 2017.

(b)  Mrs Fang Ai Lian, if re-elected, will continue to serve as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nominating Committee. Mrs Fang Ai Lian is considered by the Board of Directors as an Independent Director. For
more information on Mrs Fang Ai Lian, please refer to the “Board of Directors”and “Corporate Governance” sections
in the Annual Report 2017.

(c)  The proposed ordinary resolution 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of
the Annual General Meeting to issue shares of the Company up to the limits as specified in the resolution for such
purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. This authority will continue in force until
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting. As at
2 June 2017, the Company had 3,512,800 treasury shares and no subsidiary holdings.

(d)  The proposed ordinary resolution 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the
date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company is required by law to be held or the date on which such authority is carried out to the full extent
mandated or is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earliest, to exercise
the power of the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares. The Company intends to use internal sources of
funds, external borrowings, or a combination of internal resources and external borrowings, to finance purchases
or acquisitions of its Shares. The amount of financing required for the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares,
and the impact on the Company’s financial position, cannot be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as these will
depend on, inter alia, whether the Shares are purchased or acquired out of capital and/or profits of the Company,
the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, and the consideration paid at the relevant time. For
illustrative purposes only, the financial effects of an assumed purchase or acquisition by the Company of 10% of its
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at 2 June 2017, at a purchase price equivalent
to the Maximum Price per Share, in the case of a market purchase and an off-market purchase respectively, based
on the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 and
certain assumptions, are set out in Paragraph 2.7 of the Company’s Letter to Shareholders dated 30 June 2017.
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Notes:

(i) (@) Amemberwhois not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak
and vote at the Annual General Meeting. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than one proxy,
the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the form
of proxy.

(b) A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to
a different share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two
proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified
in the form of proxy.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of
Singapore.

(ii) A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(iii)  If a proxy is to be appointed, the instrument of proxy must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share
Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services, 80 Robinson Road #11-02, Singapore 068898 not less than
48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.

(iv)  Theinstrument of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. In the case of
joint shareholders, all holders must sign the instrument of proxy.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual
General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and
disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the
processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives
appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of
the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment
thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing
rules, take-over rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member
discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or
service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the
collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies)
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED Important

. : . 1. Relevant intermediaries (as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of
Company Reg[strat|on No.: 197301, 792W Singapore) may appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) Meeting.

2. For CPF/SRS investors who have used their CPF/SRS monies to buy Metro Holdings Limited
shares, this Proxy Form is not valid for use by them and shall be ineffective for all intents and
purposes if used or purported to be used by them. CPF/SRS investors should contact their
respective Agent Banks/SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as
proxies.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member

P ROXY Fo RM accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annua\ General
Meeting dated 30 June 2017.

[/We (Name) , (NRIC/Passport No./Co. Regn. No.)

of (Address) , being a member/members of

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint:
NRIC/Passport Proportion of

and/or (delete as appropriate)

NRIC/Passport Proportion of

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies
to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Forty-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company (the
“Meeting") to be held at Mandarin Ballroom | & Il, Level 6, Main Tower, Mandarin Orchard Singapore by Meritus, 333 Orchard
Road, Singapore 238867 on 17 July 2017 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to
vote for or against the resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting
is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising
at the Meeting.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1 To adopt the Directors’ Statement, Auditor’s Report and Audited Financial Statements
2 Todeclare First and Final Dividend
3 To declare Special Dividend

To re-elect Mr Tan Soo Khoon, a Director retiring under Article 94 of the Company’s
Constitution

To re-elect Mrs Fang Ai Lian, a Director retiring under Article 94 of the Company’s
Constitution

6 To approve Directors' Fees

To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditor and authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration

SPECIAL BUSINESS
8  Toapprove the Share Issue Mandate
9  To approve the Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish to exercise all your votes For or Against, please tick with’+/* Alternatively, please
indicate the number of votes For or Against each resolution.

Dated this day of 2017

Total Number of
- Shares Held
Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF




NOTES:

1. (@ Amemberwhois nota relevantintermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote
at the Meeting. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding
concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy.

(b) A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at
the Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by
such member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the number and class of shares in
relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

“Relevant intermediary”has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.
2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall not preclude a member from attending,
speaking and voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member
attends the Meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons
appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

4. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the
Depository Register (maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited), he should insert that number of shares. If the
member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members (maintained by or on behalf of the Company), he
should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and
registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is
inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor
Barbinder Share Registration Services, 80 Robinson Road #11-02, Singapore 068898 not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised
in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either
under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power
of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged together with
the instrument, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

8. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of
Singapore.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed,
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (including any related attachment). In addition, in the case of shares entered
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if the member, being the
appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
Company Registration No.: 197301792W
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Registered office: 391A Orchard Road #19-00 Tower A, Ngee Ann City, Singapore 238873

30 June 2017

To the shareholders of
METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

Dear Sir/Madam

1.

1.1

1.2

2.2

INTRODUCTION

Summary. We refer to Resolution 9 in the Notice convening the Forty-Fourth Annual General
Meeting of Metro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) to be held on 17 July 2017 (“AGM”).
Resolution 9 relates to the renewal of the Company’s share purchase mandate (the “Share
Purchase Mandate”).

This Letter. The purpose of this Letter is to provide shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”)
with information relating to the proposal for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, to be
tabled at the AGM.

THE RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

Background. Shareholders had approved the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the
Forty-Third Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 July 2016 (“2016 AGM”). The
authority and limitations of the Share Purchase Mandate were set out in the Company’s Letter
to Shareholders dated 12 July 2016 and the ordinary resolution relating to the Share Purchase
Mandate in the notice of the 2016 AGM. The Share Purchase Mandate approved at the 2016 AGM
was expressed to continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and, as
such, will be expiring on 17 July 2017, being the date of the forthcoming AGM. It is proposed that
the Share Purchase Mandate be renewed at the AGM. Accordingly, Resolution 9 will be tabled as
an ordinary resolution for Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

Rationale. The Share Purchase Mandate will give the Company the flexibility to undertake
purchases or acquisitions of its ordinary shares (“Shares”) at any time, subject to market
conditions, during the period that the Share Purchase Mandate is in force. Share purchases or
acquisitions allow the Company greater flexibility over its share capital structure with a view to
improving, inter alia, its return on equity. The Shares which are purchased or acquired may be held
as treasury shares which may be used for prescribed purposes pursuant to the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies Act’) such as selling treasury shares for cash, transferring
them as consideration for the acquisition of assets or transferring them pursuant to a share scheme.
The use of treasury shares in lieu of issuing new Shares would also mitigate the dilution impact on
existing Shareholders.
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It should be noted that the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate will only be undertaken if it can benefit the Company and Shareholders. No purchase
or acquisition of Shares will be made in circumstances which would have or may have a material
adverse effect on the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) and/or affect the listing status of the Company on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”). In addition, any purchase or acquisition of its Shares has to be
made in accordance with, and in the manner prescribed by, the Companies Act, the listing rules of
the SGX-ST and such other laws and regulations as may for the time being be applicable.

Authority and limitations. The authority and limitations on the purchase or acquisition of Shares by
the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate for which renewal is sought are summarised below.

(a

(b)

()

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant
to the Share Purchase Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more
than 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding any Shares held by the Company
as treasury shares and any Shares held by subsidiaries of the Company in the circumstances
referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B), 21(6A) and 21(6C) of the Companies Act (“subsidiary
holdings”)) as at the date of the AGM. Under the Companies Act and the Listing Manual of the
SGX-ST (“Listing Manual”), treasury shares and subsidiary holdings are to be disregarded for
the purposes of computing the 10% limit. As at 2 June 2017 (the “Latest Practicable Date”),
the Company had 3,512,800 treasury shares and no subsidiary holdings.

Purely for illustrative purposes, on the basis of 828,035,874 issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming
that between the Latest Practicable Date and the date of the AGM (i) no new Shares are
issued, (ii) no further Shares are repurchased by the Company and cancelled or held as
treasury shares, (iii) no treasury shares are cancelled or used by the Company for any of
the prescribed purposes, and (iv) no Shares are subsidiary holdings, then not more than
82,803,587 Shares (representing 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at that date,
excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) may be purchased or acquired by the
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

Duration of authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on and
from the date of the AGM, at which the Share Purchase Mandate is approved, up to:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or required
by law to be held;

(i)  the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked
or varied by the Company in general meeting; or

(ili)  the date on which purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated,

whichever is the earliest.

Manner of purchase or acquisition of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

(i) market purchases (“Market Purchases”); and/or

(i)  off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchases”).

Market Purchases refer to purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company effected on
the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, other stock exchange for the time being on which the

Shares may be listed and quoted, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed
by the Company for the purpose.
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Off-Market Purchases refer to purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company made
under an equal access scheme or schemes for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from
Shareholders. The Directors of the Company (“Directors”) may impose such terms and
conditions which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase Mandate, the Listing Manual
and the Companies Act as they consider fit in the interests of the Company in connection
with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes. Under the Companies Act, an
Off-Market Purchase must, however, satisfy all the following conditions:

(1)  offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who
holds Shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;

(2) all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made;
and

(3) the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except that there shall be disregarded:

(aa) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to
Shares with different accrued dividend entitlements; and

(bb) differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with
a whole number of Shares.

Additionally, the Listing Manual provides that, in making an Off-Market Purchase, the
Company must issue an offer document to all Shareholders which must contain, inter alia,
the following information:

(A) the terms and conditions of the offer;
(B) the period and procedures for acceptances;
(C) the reasons for the proposed Share purchases;

(D) the consequences, if any, of Share purchases by the Company that will arise under the
Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers (“Take-over Code”) or other applicable
take-over rules;

(E) whether the Share purchases, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the
Shares on the SGX-ST;

(F) details of any Share purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months
(whether Market Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of
Shares purchased, the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid
for the purchases, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for the purchases;
and

(G) whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury
shares.
Purchase price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax
and other related expenses) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the Directors.
However, the maximum purchase price (the “Maximum Price”) to be paid for a Share as
determined by the Directors must not exceed:

(1) in the case of a Market Purchase, 5% above the Average Closing Price; and
(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, the NTAV of a Share,

in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition. For the above
purposes:
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“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares over
the last five market days on which the Shares were transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the
case may be, such other stock exchange on which the Shares are listed or quoted, before
the date of the Market Purchase by the Company, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance
with the listing rules of the SGX-ST for any corporate action which occurs after the relevant
five-day period;

“NTAV of a Share” means the net tangible asset value of a Share taken from the latest
announced consolidated financial statements of the Company preceding the date of the
making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; and

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company makes an offer
for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more
than the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for
each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market
Purchase.

Status of purchased or acquired Shares. Under the Companies Act, the Shares purchased or
acquired by the Company shall be deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition, and
all rights and privileges attached to those Shares will expire on cancellation, unless such Shares
are held by the Company as treasury shares. The total number of issued Shares will be diminished
by the number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company which are cancelled and are not
held as treasury shares.

Treasury shares. Under the Companies Act, the Shares purchased or acquired by the Company
may be held or dealt with as treasury shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the
Companies Act are summarised below.

(@

(b)

()

Maximum holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total
number of issued Shares. For this purpose, any Shares that are held by subsidiaries in the
circumstances referred to in Sections 21(4B) and 21(6C) of the Companies Act shall be
included in computing the 10% limit.

Voting and other rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the
Company cannot exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the
Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury
shares shall be treated as having no voting rights. In addition, no dividend may be paid,
and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may be made, to the Company in respect
of treasury shares. However, the allotment of shares as fully paid bonus shares in respect
of treasury shares is allowed. A subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share is also
allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation
is the same as before.

Disposal and cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time but subject always
to the Take-over Code:

(i) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(i)  transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to any share scheme,
whether for employees, directors or other persons;

(i)  transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets
of another company or assets of a person;

(iv)  cancel the treasury shares; or
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(v)  sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be
prescribed by the Minister for Finance.

Under the Listing Manual, immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer,
cancellation and/or use of treasury shares (in each case, the “usage”). Such announcement must
include details such as the date of the usage, the purpose of the usage, the number of treasury
shares of the usage, the number of treasury shares before and after the usage, the percentage of
the number of treasury shares of the usage against the total number of issued shares (of the same
class as the treasury shares) which are listed on the SGX-ST before and after the usage, and the
value of the treasury shares of the usage.

Source of funds. In purchasing or acquiring Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the
Company may only apply funds legally available for such purchase or acquisition in accordance
with the Constitution of the Company and applicable laws. Under the Companies Act, any payment
made by the Company in consideration of the purchase or acquisition of its Shares may be made
out of the Company’s capital and/or profits so long as the Company is solvent. The Company
intends to use internal sources of funds, external borrowings, or a combination of internal resources
and external borrowings, to finance purchases or acquisitions of its Shares. The Directors do not
propose to exercise the Share Purchase Mandate to such extent that it would materially affect the
working capital requirements, financial flexibility or investment ability of the Group.

Financial effects. The financial effects on the Group and the Company arising from purchases or
acquisitions of Shares which may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate will depend
on, inter alia, whether the Shares are purchased or acquired out of capital and/or profits of the
Company, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, and the consideration paid
at the relevant time. The financial effects on the Group and the Company based on the audited
financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2017
are based on the assumptions set out below.

(@) Purchase or acquisition out of capital and/or profits

Under the Companies Act, purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be
made out of the Company’s capital and/or profits so long as the Company is solvent.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares
is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the
Company will not be reduced.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is
made out of profits, such consideration will correspondingly reduce the amount available for
the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.

(b) Maximum Price paid for Shares purchased or acquired

Based on 828,035,874 issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as
at the Latest Practicable Date, the purchase by the Company of 10% of such issued Shares
will result in the purchase or acquisition of 82,803,587 Shares.

Assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 82,803,587 Shares at the
Maximum Price on the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required is
approximately:

(i) in the case of Market Purchases of Shares, $101,020,376 based on $1.22 for each
Share (being the price equivalent to 5% above the Average Closing Price of the
Shares traded on the SGX-ST over the last five market days preceding the Latest
Practicable Date); and

(i) in the case of Off-Market Purchases of Shares, $134,969,847 based on $1.63 for each
Share (being the price equivalent to the NTAV of a Share taken from the unaudited
financial results of the Company and Group for the financial year ended 31 March
2017 released by the Company on 30 May 2017).



For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of the assumptions set out above as well as the
following:

(1)  the Share Purchase Mandate had been effective on 1 April 2016;

(2) the purchase of Shares took place at the beginning of the financial year on 1 April 2016;
(3) there was no issuance of Shares after the Latest Practicable Date; and

(4) the Share purchases were funded entirely by internal resources,

the financial effects on the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2017 would have been as follows:

MARKET PURCHASE

GROUP COMPANY
Before After Before After
Share Share Share Share
Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
$°000 $°000 $°000 $’000
As at 31 March 2017
Share Capital 169,717 169,717 169,717 169,717
Treasury Shares (1,768) (102,789) (1,768) (102,789)
Fair Value Reserve 3,366 3,366 - -
Foreign Currency Translation
Reserve (50,177) (50,177) - -
Statutory Reserve 3,880 3,880 - -
Revenue Reserve 1,221,734 1,221,734 103,071 103,071
Other Reserves 1,474 1,474 - -
Equity Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Company 1,348,226 1,247,205 271,020 169,999
Non-Controlling Interests 2,473 2,473 - -
Total Equity 1,350,699 1,249,678 271,020 169,999
Current Assets 460,225 359,204 9,404 212
Current Liabilities 175,247 175,247 5,749 97,578
Borrowings 65,915 65,915 - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents 278,164 177,143 9,192 -
Net Tangible Assets (NTA) @ 1,348,226 1,247,205 271,020 169,999
Net Profit After Tax 81,019 81,019 34,770 34,770
Profit Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Company 80,682 80,682 34,770 34,770
Number of Shares ('000) 828,036 745,232 ® 828,036 745,232 ®
Financial Ratios
NTA per Share ($) 1.63 1.67 0.33 0.23
Gearing (times) @ (Net D/E) Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash NIL
Current Ratio (times) © 2.6 2.0 1.6 0.0
Earnings per Share (cents) © 9.7 10.8 4.2 4.7



OFF-MARKET PURCHASE

As at 31 March 2017

Share Capital

Treasury Shares

Fair Value Reserve

Foreign Currency Translation
Reserve

Statutory Reserve

Revenue Reserve

Other Reserves

Equity Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Company
Non-Controlling Interests

Total Equity

Current Assets

Current Liabilities
Borrowings

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Tangible Assets (NTA) @
Net Profit After Tax

Profit Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Company

Number of Shares ("000)

Financial Ratios

NTA per Share ($)

Gearing (times) ® (Net D/E)
Current Ratio (times) ©
Earnings per Share (cents) ©

Notes to the foregoing tables:

GROUP COMPANY
Before After Before After
Share Share Share Share
Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
169,717 169,717 169,717 169,717
(1,768) (136,738) (1,768) (136,738)
3,366 3,366 - -
(50,177) (50,177) - -
3,880 3,880 - -
1,221,734 1,221,734 103,071 103,071
1,474 1,474 - -
1,348,226 1,213,256 271,020 136,050
2,473 2,473 - R
1,350,699 1,215,729 271,020 136,050
460,225 325,255 9,404 212
175,247 175,247 5,749 131,527
65,915 65,915 - -
278,164 143,194 9,192 -
1,348,226 1,213,256 271,020 136,050
81,019 81,019 34,770 34,770
80,682 80,682 34,770 34,770
828,036 745,232 ® 828,036 745,232 ©
1.63 1.63 0.33 0.18
Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash NIL
2.6 1.9 1.6 0.0
9.7 10.8 4.2 4.7

(1)  The disclosed financial effects remain the same irrespective of whether:

(a) the purchase of the Shares is effected out of capital or profits; or

(b)  the purchased Shares are held in treasury or are cancelled.

(2)  NTA equals to Total Equity less Non-Controlling Interests.

(8) Exclude 3,512,800 Shares that are held as treasury shares.

(4) Gearing is defined as Borrowings (net of cash) divided by Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company.

(5)  Current Ratio equals Current Assets divided by Current Liabilities.

(6) Earnings per Share is based on 828,035,874 Shares and 745,232,287 Shares respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD NOTE THAT THE FOREGOING FINANCIAL EFFECTS ARE
BASED ON THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 AND ARE FOR ILLUSTRATION ONLY.
THE RESULTS OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017 MAY NOT BE REPRESENTATIVE OF FUTURE PERFORMANCE.

It should be noted that although the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company to
purchase or acquire up to 10% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares
and subsidiary holdings), the Company may not necessarily purchase or acquire or be able to
purchase or acquire the entire 10%. In addition, the Company may cancel or hold in treasury all or
part of the Shares purchased or acquired. The Company will take into account both financial and
non-financial factors (for example, stock market conditions and the performance of the Shares) in
assessing the relative impact of a share purchase before execution.

Taxation. Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or any tax implications,
or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction outside Singapore, should consult their own
professional advisers.

Listing status of the Shares. The Listing Manual requires a listed company to ensure that at least
10% of the total number of its issued shares (excluding treasury shares, preference shares and
convertible equity securities) in a class that is listed is held by public shareholders at all times.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, approximately 49.01% of the total number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) are held by public shareholders. Accordingly, the Company is of the
view that there is a sufficient number of the Shares in issue held by public shareholders which
would permit the Company to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its Shares through Market
Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate without adversely
affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST. The Company will consider investor
interests when maintaining a liquid market in its securities, and will ensure that there is a sufficient
float for an orderly market in its securities when purchasing its Shares.

Listing rules. The Listing Manual restricts a listed company from purchasing shares by way of
market purchases at a price per share which is more than 5% above the “average closing price”,
being the average of the closing market prices of the shares over the last five market days on which
transactions in the shares were recorded, before the day on which the purchases were made, as
deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period. The
Maximum Price for a Share in relation to Market Purchases referred to in Paragraph 2.3 above
complies with this requirement. Although the Listing Manual does not prescribe a maximum price
in relation to purchases of shares by way of off-market purchases, the Company has set a cap of
the consolidated net asset value of a Share as the Maximum Price for a Share to be purchased or
acquired by way of an Off-Market Purchase.

While the Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase or acquisition of shares by a
listed company during any particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded
as an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase or acquisition of its issued shares, the
Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate at any time after any matter or development of a price sensitive nature has occurred or
has been the subject of consideration and/or a decision of the Board of Directors of the Company
until such price sensitive information has been publicly announced. In particular, in line with the
Company’s internal guide on securities dealings, the Company will not purchase or acquire any
Shares through Market Purchases during the two weeks immediately preceding, and up to the time
of the announcement of, the Company’s results for each of the first three quarters of its financial
year and during the one month preceding, and up to the time of announcement of, the Company’s
results for the full financial year.
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Reporting requirements. The Listing Manual specifies that a listed company shall report all
purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m. (a) in the case of
a market purchase, on the market day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of its
shares, and (b) in the case of an off-market purchase under an equal access scheme, on the
second market day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement (which must be
in the form prescribed by the Listing Manual) must include details of the date of the purchase, the
total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices
paid for such shares, as applicable, and the total consideration (including stamp duties and clearing
charges) paid or payable for the shares.

Take-over implications. The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and
persons acting in concert with them respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer
under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code after a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are
set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code. Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share
Buy-Back Guidance Note. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by
the Company of its Shares are set out below.

(a) Obligation to make a take-over offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, the proportionate
interest in the voting capital of the Company of a Shareholder and persons acting in concert
with him increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of
Rule 14 of the Take-over Code. Consequently, a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders
acting in concert with a Director could obtain or consolidate effective control of the Company
and become obliged to make an offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

(b) Persons acting in concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies
who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate,
through the acquisition by any of them of shares in a company to obtain or consolidate
effective control of that company.

Unless the contrary is established, the Take-over Code presumes, inter alia, the following
individuals and companies to be persons acting in concert with each other:

(i) the following companies:
(a) acompany;
(b) the parent company of (a);
(c)  the subsidiaries of (a);
(d) the fellow subsidiaries of (a);
(e) the associated companies of any of (a), (b), (c) or (d);

(f) companies whose associated companies include any of (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e);
and

(g) any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the
ordinary course of business) to any of the foregoing companies for the purchase
of voting rights; and
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(i) a company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts
as well as companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and
related trusts). Close relatives include immediate family (i.e. parents, siblings, spouse
and children), siblings of parents (i.e. uncles and aunts) as well as their children (i.e.
cousins) and children of siblings (i.e. nephews and nieces).

(c) Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless
exempted, Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to
make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring
Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase to 30%
or more, or in the event that such Directors and their concert parties hold between 30%
and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and their
concert parties would increase by more than 1% in any period of 6 months. In calculating the
percentages of voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties, treasury shares shall
be excluded.

Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the
Directors will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the
Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder would
increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the
Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase by more than
1% in any period of 6 months. Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of
the resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate.

The interests of the Directors and the substantial Shareholders of the Company are set out in
Paragraph 4 below.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware of any facts or factors which suggest
or imply that any particular person(s) and/or Shareholder(s) are, or may be regarded as parties
acting in concert such that their respective interests in issued voting shares of the Company should
or ought to be consolidated, and consequences under the Take-over Code would ensue as a result
of a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

SHAREHOLDERS WHO ARE IN DOUBT AS TO THEIR OBLIGATIONS, IF ANY, TO MAKE A
MANDATORY TAKE-OVER OFFER UNDER THE TAKE-OVER CODE AS A RESULT OF ANY
PURCHASE OR ACQUISITION OF SHARES BY THE COMPANY SHOULD CONSULT THE
SECURITIES INDUSTRY COUNCIL AND/OR THEIR PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS AT THE
EARLIEST OPPORTUNITY.

Particulars of Shares purchased in the past year. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the
Company has not purchased any Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate approved at
the 2016 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION

The Directors are of the opinion, for the reasons set out in Paragraph 2.2 above, that the
Share Purchase Mandate is in the interests of the Company. They accordingly recommend that
Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 9 relating to the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate
at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Interests of Directors. The interest of a Director in the issued Shares, based on the Company’s
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, as at the Latest Practicable Date, is as follows:

No. of Shares No. of Shares
Director Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Mr Phua Bah Lee - - 72,576 0.009
Note:
“%”" is based on 828,035,874 issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Interests of substantial Shareholders. The interests of substantial Shareholders in the issued
Shares, based on the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders, as at the Latest Practicable
Date, are as follows:

No. of Shares No. of Shares

Substantial Shareholders Direct Interest % ®  Deemed Interest % ©
Eng Kuan Company Private Limited 133,555,636 16.129 55,439,999 6.695
Dynamic Holdings Pte Ltd - - 48,293,203 @ 5.832
Leroy Singapore Pte Ltd 47,758,905 5.768 - -
Ong Jen Yaw 70,540 0.009 215,503,049 ®  26.026
Ong Ling Ling 75,360 0.009 237,288,838 W 28.657
Ong Ching Ping 63,360 0.008 237,288,838 W 28.657
Ong Jenn 63,360 0.008 285,047,743 ®  34.425
Ong Sek Hian (Wang ShiXian) 63,360 0.008 285,047,743 ®  34.425
Ngee Ann Development Pte Ltd 82,995,056 10.023 - -
Ngee Ann Kongsi - - 82,995,056 ®  10.023
Takashimaya Company Limited - - 82,995,056 @  10.023
Notes:

O]

(@)

®)

4)

(6)

(6)
@)

®)

Eng Kuan Company Private Limited (‘Eng Kuan”)’'s deemed interest is held through Maybank Nominees (Singapore)
Private Limited.

Dynamic Holdings Pte Ltd (“Dynamic”)’s deemed interest is held through Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

Mr Ong Jen Yaw’s deemed interest is held through Eng Kuan (188,995,635 Shares) and Citibank Nominees Singapore
Pte Ltd (26,507,414 Shares). Mr Ong Jen Yaw is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Eng
Kuan.

Ms Ong Ling Ling’s and Ms Ong Ching Ping’s deemed interests are each held through their respective interests in
Dynamic and Eng Kuan.

Mr Ong Jenn’s and Mr Ong Sek Hian (Wang ShiXian)’s deemed interests are each held through their respective
interests in Dynamic, Eng Kuan and Leroy Singapore Pte Ltd.

Ngee Ann Kongsi is deemed to be interested in the Shares through its interest in Ngee Ann Development Pte Ltd.

Takashimaya Company Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares through its interest in Ngee Ann
Development Pte Ltd.

“%” is based on 828,035,874 issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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5.2

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Directors’ responsibility. The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for
the accuracy of the information given in this Letter and confirm, after having made all reasonable
enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this Letter constitutes full and true
disclosure of all material facts about the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate,
and the Company and its subsidiaries which are relevant to the proposed renewal of the Share
Purchase Mandate, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would
make any statement in this Letter misleading. Where information in this Letter has been extracted
from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole
responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and
correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in this Letter in its proper form and
context.

Disclaimer. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements
made or opinions expressed in this Letter. Shareholders who are in any doubt as to the action they
should take should consult their stockbrokers or other professional advisers immediately.

Yours faithfully
METRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

Lt Gen (Retd) Winston Choo Wee Leong
Chairman
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